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ABSTRACT

In October and November of 1980, the Center for Archaeological Research,
The University of Texas at San Antonio, conducted an intensive resource
survey and limited testing in an area on either side of the mouth of the
Brazos River in Brazoria County, Texas. A history was composed of the
project area in relation to that of the Republic and State of Texas. A
structural history of the town of Velasco was compiled from archival and
historical research. Intensive survey and assessment of the project
area resulted in the conclusion that, aside from.a few possible subsur-
face indications at or below the water level, Fort Velasco and the
townsite of Velasco have been eliminated by the action of successive
tropical storms., It is recommended, however, that further intensive
testing be carried out if the area within Monument Square of o0ld Velasco
is to be seriously impacted by the Freeport Harbor Navigation Improve-
ment Project.
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I. INTRODUCTION

On September 19, 1980, the Center for Archaeological Research (CAR)
entered into a contract with the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers, Galveston
District (Contract No. DACW64-80-C-0061), to conduct a cultural resource
survey of the Freeport Harbor Navigation Improvement Project in Brazoria,
Texas. This project will deepen, realign and enlarge the present chan-
nel entrance and the inside main channels and turning basins. The north
jetty will be relocated, as will the U.S. Coast Guard Station. Addi-
tional work will include rehabilitation of the south jetty, and the
construction of shore protection, breakwaters and public use facilities.

Scope of Work

As specified by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers (1980:Appendix A,
Section II) in the contract, the assignment was to conduct an intensive
cultural resource survey and assessment of the project area, to identify
cultural resources within the area, evaluate their significance and
assess primary and secondary impacts to these resources which would
result from project construction.

In order to accomplish these objectives, the following tasks were to be
done:

1. A thorough literature and archival search of the proj-
ect area.

2. An intensive field survey of the entire project area
to identify all cultural resources.

3. An assessment of project impact to all identified
cultural resources in the project area.

4. An assessment of potential National Register eligi-
bility of all identified cultural resources in the
project area including the proposed Fort Velasco-
Quintana Historic District.

5. The thorough testing and evaluation of the presumed
location of Fort Velasco within the project area.

6. An architectural and historical assessment of the
U.S. Coast Guard Station complex at Surfside on
the east side of the channel.

7. The subsurface testing and assessment of a three-
acre tract of land where the U.S. Coast Guard Station
will be relocated.

In order to most efficiently accomplish the work assigned by this con-
tract, the project was to be divided into three parts: (1) a literature




and archival search; (2) an intensive field survey, limited testing, and
assessment; and (3) the preparation of a comprehensive report of the
work. The results of the assessment of the Coast Guard Station and the
area where it is to be relocated were reported to the U.S. Army Corps of
Engineers, Galveston District, in March 1981 (Fox 1981). This report
comprises the results of the balance of the project.

Regional Location

The area of concern to this project includes the low-lying Tands on
either side of the mouth of the Brazos River. The survey area is less
than 5 feet above sea level, except for a number of large spoil mouna:
near the Gulf on the southwest side of the channel, and one less no-
ticeable mound east of the Coast Guard Station on the northeast side.

Vegetation in the area is primarily low-growing, with various grasses
and groundcovers, and low shrubs and trees such as oleander and salt
cedar predominating. The climate is mild and subtropical, with a mean
temperature of 43°F in January and 92°F in August (Creighton 1975:444).
The prevailing Gulf breeze is from the southeast, but occasional cold
fronts bring north winds and can drop the temperature 40°F in less than
an hour ({bid.:443).

Between June and October the area is subject to intense tropical storms
which form in the Guif. A deadly succession of these storms, many of
them reaching hurricane velocity, have pounded the coastal area in
historic times. The Texas Almanac (1974) 1ists more than 25 severe
storms and hurricanes which have impacted the area from Galveston to
Corpus Christi between 1818 and the present. Bringing winds of 135 to
175 miles per hour and tides as high as 16 feet or more above sea level,
these storms have been a factor of major importance in the history of
the Texas Coast and of the mouth of the Brazos River in particular.

Soils consist of red, brown, and gray Pleistocene sands and muds which
have been redistributed over the years by intermittent flooding and wave
action. Some of this red clay has also been deposited by extensive
flooding of the Brazos River after heavy rains, at which time the flood
waters would have covered most of the project area.

In the early 19th century, Mary Austin Holley (1808-1846:Letter 1843:28)
observed that the waters of the Brazos River would turn brackish for a
time after such floods because of the salt deposits located in the upper
reaches, and "a fine, red clay, as slippery as soap, and as sticky as
putty" was deposited on the flooded areas.

Erosion and deltaic deposition have caused remarkable changes in the
shoreline in this area over the past 150 years. The construction of
jetties at the mouth of the river beginning in 1889 has had a noticeable
effect on the distribution of these deposits, and the shoreline on the
Velasco side of the channel has moved 2000 feet to the southeast since
1858 (United States Coastal Survey 1858). Channel dredging and bank




cutting have g]so altered the shape and contours of the river banks over
the years, eliminating a large portion of what was once the settlement
of Quintana (Lynn 1979:Fig. 4).

Today much of the land on either side of the mouth of the Brazos River
is gradually reverting to its original barren state. Aside from the
Coast Guard Station, the only structures present are beach houses built
within the past twenty years or so, nondescript squatters' shacks and
early 20th century frame farmhouses which have somehow survived the
rigors of the salt air and hurricanes.

Just north of the Coast Guard Station is a small group of frame struc-
tures of various ages and stages of decay. Clumps of salt cedars
following old fence Tines break the incessant southeast breeze. A
house-by-house survey failed to find one structure within the project
area of sufficient age and status to merit nomination to the National
Register of Historic Places (see Appendix I).

The Quintana side has almost entirely returned to a natural state, with
the exception of a few shacks and the refurbished Seaburn house.

Previous Work in the Area

The Corps of Engineers has commissioned three previous cultural resource
surveys in the project area. A reconnaissance level survey was con-
ducted in 1975 by John E. Ippolito and Edward P. Baxter (1976) from the
Texas A&M Research Foundation. Three historic sites were recorded, two
of which were considered potentially eligible for the National Register
of Historic Places. These were the site of two World War II gun em-
placements on the Quintana side of the channel (41 BO 116) and the
postulated site of Fort Velasco (41 BO 125) on the opposite side. The
former were easily identified because of their elevated construction.
The latter was evidently Tocated for the surveyors by members of the
Gulf Coast Chapter, Texas Society of Professional Engineers (Ippolito
and Baxter 1976:23-26). It was identified on the basis of brick foun-
dations in the area. More thorough field examination and archival
research would have suggested that these foundations were not part of
the original fort, which apparently consisted entirely of palisade
structures. The collections in the possession of local residents con-
tain artifacts which clearly date from the early 1800s to the present,
but nothing was observed which would confirm the presence of a Mexican

site.

Magnetometer surveys were conducted to locate underwater remains by Odom
Offshore Surveys, Inc., in 1978 and by Fairfield Industries in 1979. A
number of magnetic anomalies were recorded. Assessments of selected
anomalies were conducted by the National Park Service (Lenihan 1980),
Texas A&M (Bond 1980), and North Texas State University (Hays 1981,

report in progress). All anomaly sources identified by diving are
attributable to modern refuse and wreckage. No pre-20th century resources
were identified.




In addition to the above surveys, Warren M. Lynn (1979) conducted an
archaeological survey and testing in the vicinity of Quintana (41 BO
135) in 1969 and 1979 respectively, for the Brazos River Harbor Navi-
gation District. Dr. Frank Hole (report in preparation) subsequently
conducted excavations in mitigation of possible damage to be caused by
this project on sites Tocated by Lynn. While Lynn found accumulations
of artifacts and structural remains in the form of wooden posts and
brick chimney bases, the general impression of the results of his exca-
vations is one of disturbed and redeposited materials surrounding
securely anchored architectural features. This impression is borne out
by the observations of Hole (1980) at the time of his excavations:

The site is, at best, insubstantial in that there

is very little depth of deposit and few architec-
tural remains. Across parts of the site the
artifacts lie on a distinct layer but through most
of the site they are scattered through sandy
deposits. When artifacts are on a layer it is
usually on sandy Toam at the contact with the under-
lying clays.

In addition to these projects, the Fort Velasco Restoration Association,
sponsored by the Gulf Coast Chapter of the Society of Professional
Engineers, carried out land clearing and excavations in the vicinity of
several brick foundations in Surfside Block 568 (Fig. 1) in early 1971.
Artifacts recovered during these excavations have been examined by the
CAR archaeologists Of these artifacts, ceramics from the H. B. Fearn
and John Pollan collections were generously loaned to the CAR for
detailed analysis. With the exception of a few Mexican coins, which
were probably in circulation throughout Texas in the early 19th century,
all of the artifacts are of English, European or American origin. They
represent the time period from ca. 1830 to the present, and include a
number of military items from the Civil War period.

At the time of the 1971 excavations, a bulldozer was used to clear away
clumps of salt cedar and a squatter's shack on the property (Lagett
Cleaver, personal communication). A group of Boy Scouts under the
direction of Cleaver, Dale Sandlin and H. B. Fearn dug out a large brick
cistern within the same block. Then in 1972 and 1973 additional excava-
tions were done in Surfside Block 568 by Raymond Walley, a local amateur
archaeologist, now deceased. No information was found on the results of
these later excavations.
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IT. LITERATURE AND ARCHIVAL RESEARCH

Introduction

Despite the fact that a number of cultural resource surveys have been
conducted, no comprehensive archival and historical research appears to
have been done which deals exclusively and in depth with the area in
question. The mouth of the Brazos River has been of considerable importance
to Texas history, including as it does the sites of Fort Velasco where
the first battle of the Texas revolution was fought, and the early towns
of Velasco and Quintana which served as commercial and social centers
for the first settlers in the region in the early 19th century. In
order to be able to locate and identify sites of importance within the
project area and to assess the state of their preservation, the archaeo-
logists spent one month (20 working days) searching out specific
structural information from various archival sources. Historic accounts
and diaries, Brazoria County Deed Records and other county records
provided pieces of the puzzle of the town of Velasco, how it was laid
out, who Tived there and when, and which Tots were built on. Historic
maps were obtained from every conceivable source, including the County
records, the State Land office, the Texas Archives and the National
Archives. The Bexar Archives were searched for information on the
Battle of Velasco, and a copy was obtained from this collection of the
previously unnoticed description by Lieutenant Colonel Domingo de
Ugartechea of his construction of Fort Velasco and of the battle itself
(Ugartechea 1832:a-d).

A1l of this information was compiled to produce working maps of the
towns of Velasco and Quintana as they actually were built, and minutely
careful measurements and overlays produced the first accurate layout on
paper of the towns in reference to the present shorelines today (Fig. 2).
These maps were then used to plan the strategy of testing during the
next phase of the project. The following sections contain the results
of these efforts.

Historical Narrative

The history of the area at the mouth of the Brazos River can be divided
into eight periods:” (1) the period of Spanish rule (1519-1821) which

had 1ittle effect on the area; (2) the development years of the Austin
colony (1821-1830) when the area was the main entry point for the colon-
ists; (3) the period .of growing friction between the colonists and the
government of Mexico (1830-1836) when the port became increasingly
important, as well as a source of conflict; (4) the Republic of Texas
period (1836-1845) when Velasco was briefly the interim capital and then
became less important due to the rapid development of Galveston and
Houston; (5) the antebellum period (1846-1860) when Velasco and Quintana
reached their peaks as small seaside resorts; (6) Civil War and Recon-
struction (1861-1874) when the area was a major Civil War coastal defense
point, then during Reconstruction, part of a region with a shattered
economy; (7) the hurricane years (1875-1890) when the area was devastated
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by two great hurricanes; and (8) the development of modern Brazosport
(1890-present) starting with the building of new Velasco upriver.

The Spanish period in Texas is usually considered to begin in 1519 with
the mapping of the Gulf Coast from Florida to Vera Cruz by Alonso
Alvarez de Pineda; however, Pineda's map did not indicate the mouth of
the Brazos River (Farmer 1959:110-114). The next historic event was the
shipwreck in 1528 of the survivors of the Narvaez expedition, who were
trying to reach Mexico from Florida. The account of the shipwreck, by
Alvar Nifez Cabeza de Vaca, and of his subsequent 1ife among the Indians
and his journey to Mexico, has sparked scholarly controversy over exact
geographic locations and routes. Several authorities have published
well supported arguments that the Narvaez survivors were stranded east
of the mouth of the Brazos River on San Luis Peninsula or Galveston
Island. If so, the four strong swimmers sent west along the coast would
have been the first Europeans to visit the mouth of the Brazos River
(Williams 1979:1-43; Webb 1952 1:261-263). Cabeza de Vaca's account of
the coastal Indians (Karankawa or peoples related to the Karankawa
tradition) describes them as trusting, friendly and not particularly
warlike. These Indians were hunters and gatherers Tiving in small bands
who used dugout canoes made from tree trunks. They made tools from
marine shells, and made distinctive pottery (and apparently basketry)
waterproofed with asphaltum (Hester 1980:48-51; Newcomb 1961:59-81).
After Cabeza de Vaca's visit to these Indians, they were not disturbed
by Europeans until the expedition of LaSalle in 1685. From that time
the actions of the French and Spanish toward them changed their attitude
and by the 19th century they had become dangerous foes, requiring no
provocation to attack strangers. Looting wrecked ships became a favorite
occupation (Newcomb 1961:75-77).

The period of Spanish rule had relatively little impact on the area
around the mouth of the Brazos River, although the river with its large
flow emptying directly into the Gulf must have been a landmark for
mariners. Spanish activity in the region was almost entirely in response
to foreign intruders. To counteract French trade and influence among

the Indians, the Presidio San Agustin de Ahumada and Mission Nuestra
Senora de la Luz were built on the Tower Trinity River (Orcoquisac) in
1756 and maintained until 1771. After the cession of Louisiana to Spain
by France in 1762, the English and then the Americans became the objects
of Spanish distrust (Bolton 1970:328-408). The last years of Spanish
Texas were characterized by increasing penetration by foreigners and
foreign ideas. After Napoleon's repossession and sale of Louisiana to
the United States, Spain was confronted with the restless Anglo-Americans
on the Texas border, with fugitive slaves, U.S. deserters and forbidden
goods crossing into Spanish territory. Revolution swept Mexico begin-
ning in 1810. By 1816, Galveston Island became a headquarters for
revolutionaries and international opportunists, with Aury and Mina in
1816, the Lafitte brothers from 1817 to 1820, Henry Perry in 1817 and

Dr. James Long in 1819 (Faulk 1964:113-139), although these activities
were disrupted by a hurricane in 1818 (Branda 1976:423). Antonio Martinez,
the last Spanish governor of Texas, recognized that the serious lack of



popu!a?ion was the major cause of the poverty of his province and of his
inability to deal with the increasing external pressures. He saw
colonization as the solution (Barker 1969:34).

In December 1820, on the eve of Mexico's independence from Spain, Moses
Austin appeared in San Antonio seeking permission to settle 300 families
on a tract of 200,000 acres on the Colorado River. Governor Martinez
ordered him to Teave "instantly," but Baron de Bastrop, an influential
old friend, interceded and the petition was forwarded to the commandant-
general of the Eastern Interior Provinces, who approved it in January
1821. Austin received the approval in May but became fatally i11 soon
afterward. By the time of his death in June, his son, Stephen Fuller
Austin, had begun to carry out his plans. Governor Martinez confirmed
Austin as heir to his father's concession and authorized him to intro-
duce equipment duty free through the port of San Bernard (the general
area of Matagorda Bay--no specific Tocation was established) which had
recently been legalized by the commandant-general (.ib.{d.:24-31; Webb
1952 11:548-549). Austin moved quickly to establish his colony. He
named Josiah H. Bell, an associate from Arkansas, to act as Justice of
the Peace for the early arrivals to his colony. He purchased a small
vessel, the Lively, in New Orleans and made a compact with immigrants to
sound the coast of Texas from Galveston to the Guadalupe River, land at
the mouth of the Colorado River, build a stockade and plant a corn crop.
What the Lively actually did was sail past the mouth of the Brazos River
on December 3, 1821, returning and landing cargo and passengers on
December 23rd. The Lively then sailed south to make soundings. The
disembarked passengers expected it to return, but it did not. It later
appeared at New Orleans, took on a cargo and passengers and later was
wrecked on Galveston Island. The passengers, stranded at the mouth of
the Brazos River, searched in vain for other settlers upstream, and then
tried unsuccessively to raise a corn crop. Finally, all but two or
three drifted back to the United States (Barker 1969:35-40; Lewis 1899:
224; Creighton 1975: 15-16).

In 1821, the time was auspicious for a colonization effort in Texas.
Immigration into the western states had been heavy for several years.
The Panic of 1819, in addition to wiping out Moses Austin's remaining
fortune in the failure of his St. Louis bank, carried distress and bank-
ruptcy throughout the west. The 1ifetime savings of many small farmers
were wiped out and the letters and newspapers of the period 1820-1825
carry the sad story of debt, court judgements and dispossessions (Barker
1969:80-81; Sturgeon 1943:20). Thus Austin's announcement of generous
grants at low prices on easy terms attracted widespread interest. Many
families took to the road and many more watched with great interest.
Many of those who waited were discouraged by events of 1822-1823--
Austin's long absence in Mexico, crop failures, and severe Indian
problems. Austin worked hard to correct these problems; by the end

of 1824, the first colony of 300 families was established, and these
original settlers received title to the lands. After 1825 there was a
large increase in immigration (Barker 1969:80-118).
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The federal law prohibiting colonization, within ten leagues of the sea,
did not apply to the first settlers and some of them had located along
the coast. Austin called attention to this in a petition in 1826 asking
inclusion of the reserved land between the Lavaca River and the San
Jacinto River into his first contract. This was approved ("Austin's
Coast Colony") with a contract to settle 300 additional families
(ibid.:126). One of these early settlers may have been Henry Seaburn,
who is said to have come to Quintana before 1820 (Creighton 1975:10).
Another was Asa Mitchell, said to have landed at the mouth of the Brazos
River in January 1822 (ibid.:19). This conflicts with the accounts of
the Lively passengers who found the place deserted in December 1821, and
stayed long enough to attempt a crop of corn. Perhaps one or both were
Livety passengers. At any rate local traditijon has Quintana populated
from 1821, Velasco from somewhat later (U.S. Army Corps of Engineers
1979:5-7). On the other hand, Webb (1952 II:424) states Quintana was
established by 1836, and Merle Weir (.(b.{d.:835) states that Velasco is
one of the oldest towns in Texas where the schooner Lively landed the
first of Austin's colonists ". . .and over 25,000 settlers entered
through that port from 1821-1835." By 1823, when Josiah H. Bell moved
to his plantation at the head of navigation on the Brazos River (Bell's
Landing, later to become West Columbia), there was probably some sort of
small port at the mouth of the river, quite Tikely Asa Mitchell's (Webb
1952 1:533). Austin (Barker 1969:118), wrote to his mother and sister
on May 4, 1824, of his plan to move them to Texas:

There are two modes of moving to this country. . .
Natchitoches. . . by land. . . two hundred and
fifty miles. . . the other route is to go to
Orleans and thence round by sea to the mouth of
the Brazos River, I am undecided which of these
two routes will be best. . .

Asa Mitchell was certainly at the mouth of the river at an early date.
He came to Texas with his wife and young son and in 1824 received title
to about 6820 acres which included the site of Velasco. The March 1826
census lists him as a farmer and stock raiser with a young wife, three
children, and eight servants. His brother E1i came to Texas in 1824 and
settled)near the present site of Velasco (Webb 1952 I1:218; Mullins
1959:48).

Initially salt was in short supply in the colony and early settlers went
as far as Natchitoches in 1823 to obtain it. At about the same time
Jared E. Groce, a wealthy planter who came to Texas in 18271 with some
one hundred slaves and fifty covered wagons to settle near present
Hempstead (Webb 1952 1:738-739; Smithwick 1900:18-19), took many of his
hands to the coast where they dug shallow wells and boiled salt water
down, producing "salt enough to Tast a long time" (Bertleth 1917:364).
Mitchell at least planned to make salt by June 28, 1826, when he wrote
Austin that a delinquent debtor had cost him the chance to buy salt
kettles in New Orleans, but that he had sugar, coffee and other articles
available for immigrants (Creighton 1975:31). Noah Smithwick (1900:19)
recalled that about the end of 1827:
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EThanan Gibbs came round from the salt works at
the mouth of the Brazos River, where Asa Mitchell,
the first settler there, had opened a salt factory.

By 1825, Austin asked for establishment of a port on Galveston Island,
to enable the colony to sell its surplus, particularly cotton and wool.
Later, because the island was uninhabited, without timber and subject to
inundation, he suggested a port at the mouth of the Brazos River, which
would be more convenient for the port officers and colonists. By that
time, however, the port of Galveston had been established provisionally,
yet no steps were taken to establish a customs house in Texas. Austin
saw the importance of establishing trade with Mexican ports and so
argued. He also saw the principal business opportunity for the colony
was the export of cotton to Europe. In spite of the lTack of authorized
ports, trade increased, particularly at Bell's Landing. Brazoria was
established in 1828 by John Austin (a close friend and possibly a
distant relative of Stephen) as a port and trading center. In 1828,
John Austin and James Austin (brother of Stephen and one of the original
300) obtained Mexican registry for a schooner to trade with Matamoros,
but the legislation came in an unpleasant package (Barker 1969:180-182;
Sturgeon 1943:30-32, 70; Creighton 1975:37; Webb 1952 1:207).

General Manuel de Mier y Teran, who had Ted a scientific commission pre-
paring for a U.S.-Mexico boundary survey in 1828, developed a grave view
of the threat that the United States posed and of the potential for
subversion and rebellion among the American colonists. In 1829, he
became commandant-general of the Eastern Interior Provinces and authored
a plan to save Texas for Mexico. The plan called for the military
occupation of Texas, counter-colonization by Mexicans and Europeans,
particularly Germans and Swiss, and the development of economic bonds by
establishing coastwise trade. This was adopted much as proposed by
Teran, as the Law of April 6, 1830. There was one important addition--a
complete halt to new immigration from the United States. Austin,
although alarmed, Toyally supported the Taw and editorialized to prevent
unrest in the Texas Gazette (Barker 1969). Mier y Teran, on the other
hand, executed the law so as not to unduly interfere with the Austin and
DeWitt colonies (Barker 1969: 256-283; Lukes 1976:161; Bacarisse 1953:
247). An editorial in the Texas Gazette, in May 1830, announced the
arrival of "Colonel Fisher, administrator of the port of Galveston."
George Fisher, a Hungarian and naturalized Mexican citizen, had been
appointed collector of customs in 1829 but did not receive his creden-
tials at that time. Implementing the maritime policy of the new law,
George Fisher announced that he would establish a custom house tempo-
rarily at the mouth of the Brazos River and place a deputy on Galveston
Island. Asa Mitchell seems to have been appointed a boarding officer
for the mouth of the Brazos River at about this time. Fisher also
announced strict rules for manifests and passports. He was very active
for a few months in preparing for the coast trade with Mexico and fore-
saw an extensive cotton trade with Europe. Then, he and the custom
house were suspended by Teran, who thought the admission of foreign
vessels to the coastal trade by the Law of April 6, 1830, rendered the
customs unnecessary. Fisher in the meantime had accepted a position as
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secretary to the San Felipe ayuntamiento (City Council), where he became
embroiled in a controversy and was dismissed (Barker 1969:180-183, 327-
328; Creighton 1975:58; Webb 1952 I11:218). Then, in September 1831,
Fisher was again ordered to duty. He was to establish the custom house
at Anahuac on Galveston Bay and, as soon as possible, establish stations
at Point Bolivar and at the mouth of the Brazos River. In the meantime,
he would appoint a deputy for the Brazos River at Brazoria (Barker
1969:328; Sturgeon 1943:53).

Trouble had begun at Anahuac before Fisher arrived. The choice for the
military command of this fort was unfortunate. Colonel John Davis
Bradburn was irascible, arbitrary and injudicious. Austin (Barker 1969)
once characterized him as "incompetent to such a command and half crazy
part of the time." In February 1831, Bradburn arrested J. F. Madero,
the Tand commissioner, who was issuing titles to the settlers at Atas-
cosito on the Trinity River. After Madero was released, he established
an ayuntamiento at Atascosito which he renamed "most holy Trinity of
Liberty"--promptly shortened to "Liberty." Bradburn, who had for months
engaged in altercations with the inhabitants, frequently threatening
them with arrest, annulled the ayuntamiento in November and established
a new one named Anahuac. The same month, Fisher issued a most unfortu-
nate proclamation. Apparently because the arrival of the deputy customs
collector for the Brazos River had been delayed, he ordered vessels
landing on the Brazos River to obtain clearance from his office at
Anahuac (a round trip of approximately one-hundred miles). This and
general resentment against the new customs created great discussion in
the colony, and in late December 1831, two ships ran past the military
guard at the mouth of the river, wounding one of the guards (Barker
1969:322-329; Sturgeon 1943:53; Creighton 1975:52).

A change in the settlement at the mouth of the river had occurred ear-
lier that year. In March 1831, Goodwin B. Cotten and William Chase
bought or built a log house (the Brazos Hotel). Cotten, who had pub-
lished the Louisiana Gazetife and the Mob.ilfe Gazette, came to Austin's
colony in 1829 and published the Texas Gazette, which printed the offi-
cial matter of the San Felipe ayuntamiento. He sold the Gazette sometime
in 1831, but resumed publishing it in December 1831, perhaps after the
skirmish at the mouth of the river (Webb 1952 1:419; Creighton 1975:52).
An account (Gray 1965:3-5) of this hotel by a visitor of 1831 is puzzling
in Tight of the other houses and the salt works supposed to be at the
mouth of the river, but sheds some 1ight on the military force which
engaged the vessels:

. . . we soon reached the house of Captain Cotton,
where a flag was flying. It stands on the bank
of the Brazos River, though a mere log house. The
owner was formerly editor of a Mexican gazette.

From this place we had an extensive prospect.
Although the spot is but T1ittle higher than the
surface of the water, the country around is so low,
and so perfectly flat that the eye embraced an
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extent of many miles toward the interior, as well
as up and down the seacoast. . .

Not a dwelling, except the inn, was anywhere in
sight.

There were ten or twelve puny, dark complexioned
men at Captain Cotton's in uniforms, who I learnt
were Mexican soldiers, stationed there to enforce
the revenue laws.

Another description of the mouth of the river at about the time of the
skirmish is that of Mary Austin Holley (1808-1846:Letter 1836:29), a
cousin of Stephen F. Austin:

We came to, before the docr of the pilot's house,
which parts the stream. The officer of the garri-
son boarded us to examine our passports, a ceremony
the Mexicans are very tenacious of. . . The pilot
came on board. He is an American. . . and lives
at the point of land formed by the Brazos with

the gulf. Here there is a Mexican garrison. .

On our right, in front of their palmetto-roofed
and windowless barracks, the lazy sentinels were
walking their lonely rounds, without excessive
martial parade, nor did the unturreted quarters

of the commanding officer, show much blazonry of

a Spanish Don. There was no tree, no cultiva-
tion . . . Nothing marked civilization, save a
fabric for making salt; itself an image of deso-
lation, and the solitary house of the pilot,
standing high on piles. . .

Two of the results of this skirmish in December 1831, were the anger of
Teran and the resignation of Fisher--who later became a Houston busi-
nessman, lawyer and city councilman and ultimately the Greek consul at
San Francisco at the time of his death in 1873 (Webb 1952 I1:600-601).
Francisco Duclor, his deputy, assumed his duties but had abandoned them
by Septimber 1832 (Barker 1969:329-330, 349; Creighton 1975; Sturgeon
1943:54). '

Probably another result of the skirmish was the establishment of the
Fort of Velasco. A small detachment was stationed there as early as
Tate 1831. In March 1832, Colonel Domingo de Ugartechea disembarked at
Anahuac and was preparing to go to the mouth of the Brazos with "one
cannon of six caliber and 100 infantry." With him was Duclor, the
customs collector who expected resistance to the customs (Ugartechea

1832a).

By April 4, Ugartechea had Teft Anahuac for the mouth of the Brazos
River with the infantry, cannon and 17 artillerymen to build the "For-
tress of Velasco" (Bradburn 1832). By May 15, the fort was nearly
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complete, but in June, twenty-three men of the garrison had deserted
(Ugartechea 1832b, 1832c). Adele Looscan (1897:283) described the fort:

The fort built by the Mexicans is described by
some writers as a log cabin fortress, but according
to the recollection of many who remember its con-
struction, it was not built in the Tog cabin style;
logs were used, but in the manner of a stockade.
The description by Col. Guy M. Bryan, who saw it
when entire, and again when in ruins, is about as
follows. The fort was circular in shape and com-
posed of sound drift Togs set perpendicularly in
two circular rows, the space of several feet
between them being filled in with sand. A mound
of sand in the center, raised above the pickets,
was surrounded with wood to prevent the sand

being blown off. On this mound was mounted a

nine pound cannon which was on a swivel so as to
make a compiete circuit guarding the mouth of the
river; it could not, however, be depressed so as

to protect the immediate vicinity. . .

Meanwhile, the troubles at Anahuac had only begun. Bradburn pressed
supplies for his troops, used slave labor without compensation and
refused to return fugitive slaves, while encouraging revolt among them.
He arrested citizens and held them for military trial. Patrick Jack was
arrested on some charge and William Barrett Travis, as an attorney
attempting to recover fugitive slaves from Bradburn, found himself held.
On June 4, a force started from Brazoria to release the prisoners. It
grew to 160 with others ready to join. Ugartechea sent his lieutenant
with John Austin to urge the release of the prisoners to civil author-
ities. Bradburn agreed but when the insurgents withdrew he used the
opportunity to strengthen his military position and defied them. The
insurgents sent for two cannons at Brazoria and went into camp where
they drafted the Turtle Bayou Resolutions, declaring adherence to
General Antonio Lopez de Santa Anna, who was leading a liberal revolu-
tion. Colonel Jose de las Piedras, the commander at Nacogdoches,
marched to Anahuac to restore order and succeeded in getting Bradburn
relieved of duty, and the insurgents dispersed, but not in time to
prevent bloodshed at Velasco (Barker 1969:333; Creighton 1975:63).

Henry Smith was a major participant in the events which followed. He
later became the leader of the "War Party," the provisional governor
during the opening phase of the Texas Revolution. At the request of
Vice President Lamar, he compiled his reminiscences in 1836. He re-
called that the "fine American Schooner" Baazoiia was pressed into
service to take the cannons to Anahuac. However, the strong fortress at
the mouth of the river, manned by 150 men and equipped with a nine
pounder and a four pounder, was in the way. Smith urged his fellow
Brazorians to take the fort by surprise. However, since the commander
of the force was well Tiked, a committee was sent to him to try to
obtain permission for the vessel to pass the fort (Smith 1911:38).
Colonel Domingo de Ugartechea, the commander of Fort Velasco, was a
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career officer who had fought as a cadet with Arredondo (and Santa Anna)
at the Medina in 1813. His account, written a few days after the Battle
of Velasco lists his force as 64 riflemen and 9 artillerymen. He was
visited by a committee of four who asked, in turn, for him to join their
party and declare for Santa Anna, for permission for the vessel to pass
aggzg?r his surrender. Each of these requests he refused (Ugartechea

1 .

Then Smith's argument to attack the fort prevailed. The plan for the
night attack was for a company of 20 men to move into the drift logs on
the beach east of the fort and to begin the attack by opening fire at a
given time, occupying the attention of the garrison until the Brazoria
could drop down abreast the fort. The schooner, armed with "four six-
pound carronades and a swivel" and firing improvised rounds of wound-up
chain, slugs and bottles filled with buck shot as they were short of
round shot, the men on the ship protected by a bulwark of cotton bales,
would then open fire. Then, under the cover of darkness John Austin and
Henry Smith and their force would move the portable breastworks they had
made of "cypress planks ten or twelve feet in length. . . to be set up
with props," where they would remain unobserved until daylight "when
every shot would tell." Two or more days were spent in preparing, and
on the first try the schooner was unable to do its part due to high
windss and the attack was called off until the next night (Smith 1911:
38-41).

Smith recalled a calm, clear starlit night. They crossed the partly
dismantled bridge over a bayou above the fort. The schooner came in
sight. "As soon as she had cleared the point. . . it was ascertained
that the enemy was not asleep” (ibdid.). Ugartechea's guards by the
river reported the vessel approaching. He ordered the cannon to fire on
the schooner and dispatched his lieutenant with 20 men into the ditch at
the base of the fort. He was being fired on by the company in the
driftwood at the beach (Ugartechea 1832d). Smith (1911) described the
fort as a complete circle enclosing a small area so that it was well
manned, with the nine pounder on an elevation "perhaps ten feet above
the musketry.” As soon as his company opened fire on the fort:

It seemed to ignite instantaneously and flame
1ike a volcano, and from that time until the
battle's end the fort seemed to emit one con-
tinual blaze of fire directed to all parts.

A11 of the nearby houses had been burned but two, the custom house and a
small office. The force with the breastworks gathered near the custom
house, and unobserved, moved the breastworks to within 30 paces of the
fort "so that the nine pounder could not be depressed enough to bear
upon” them. They were to hold their fire, but one excited man fired and
gave their position away. In the return fire "the unfortunate man. . .
fell with many others" (Smith 1911:41-42). Ugartechea "managed to cause
greater harm to the enemy behind the stockade." The Brazorians in the
trenches yelled "Long Live Santa Anna," while the garrison yelled back
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"Long Live the Mexican Republic. . ." Ugartechea suffered only two
casualties during the night, but as daylight came both sides were better
able to aim. He ordered his troops in the ditch back into the fort.

The battle wound down. Ugartechea's garrison had only 15 guns in work-
ing order; they had fired 4600 rounds and had only about 400 left (Ugar-
techea 1832d). Only a few effective Brazorians were left in the trenches
(Smith 1911:43).

Ugartechea's (1832d) version of what then happened is "the enemy was
able to hold out until nine in the morning at which time they ran away."
He then sent a squad into the enemy stockade which retrieved some

35 guns and reported seeing 11 dead. Then a rainstorm began (Ugartechea
ibid.,). Smith (1911:43) recalled that about eight o'clock "there came
such a heavy storm of wind and rain. . . we were literally drowned out
and compelled to retreat." Another Brazorian wrote to a neighbor that
day that they would have taken the fort had they not been compelled to
withdraw "by a pelting rain such as I have never before experienced"
(Bailey 1832). Ugartechea then attended to 19 men who were wounded

(9 seriously) and then he buried 7 men near the fort; he reported that
he believed the enemy had suffered 17 dead and 42 wounded (Ugartechea
1832d). According to Smith (1911:43-44), the garrison lost 32 men and a
great many more were wounded, while his party lost 7 men, 3 more died
later, some were badly wounded and many slightly. Except for 1 dead and
1 wounded on the schooner, his force had borne all the injury and had
done all the damage to the enemy.

Under the white flag, Ugartechea met with John Austin. He knew his
position was untenable, with no relief possible, and was willing to
leave the fort, but only with the honors of war "that is, with arms,
munition, equipment and officers . . ..1in full troop assemblage." On
June 29, a settlement was reached and he had the garrison's belongings
and families loaded on the Brazoaia which had been badly damaged. Then
he gathered his troops, ordered them to fix bayonets, left the fort and
marched to the ship (Ugartechea 1832d).

Meanwhile, the revolution supported by the Turtle Bayou Resolutions was
going well. On June 28, Colonel Jose Antonio Mexia entered Matamoros
with his 1iberal army and Colonel Guerra, with the government forces,
retired. On July 2, General Teran committed suicide. On July 6,
hearing of the troubles in Texas, Mexia and Guerra arranged an armistice
so Mexia could go to Texas to prevent loss of the province. Stephen F.
Austin accompanied him. Mexia arrived at Velasco July 16 with a strong
force, and while in Texas consolidated the province for the liberal
cause. San Antonio went over to Santa Anna on August 30 (Barker 1969:
344-346; Creighton 1975:69). The success of the Texans in espousing
Santa Anna and the liberal cause encouraged them to air their grievances.
The Convention of 1832 was held and resolutions passed calling for
exemptions from tariffs, renewed immigration from the United States,
Tand titles for east Texas, government lands to support schools and a
separation of Texas from Coahuila. Partly because of opposition from
San Antonio, the resolutions were not forwarded. The Convention of 1833
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called for immigration from the United States, better protection from
Indians, tariff exemptions and a separate state. A state constitution
was offered which provided trial by jury, habeas corpus, freedom of the
press and universal suffrage. Austin was sent to Mexico to promote
these (Webb 1952 1:404).

When Austin left San Felipe on April 22, he was delayed by rain and high
water--and the asiatic cholera had made its dread appearance at the
mﬁuth of the Brazos River. One early settler (Menefee 1880) described
the rains: '

It rained for entire months in 1832 and 1833 . . .
The most rain that fell at once was about 44 hours
falling--not in showers but one continual pour-
down. You may give a better guess when I tell

you that the Colorado was 8 feet higher than it
was ever known before and the Brazos at San

Felipe 10 feet; all Brazoria was inundated . . .
the water in some houses three or four feet deep.

Another wrote:

This has been a trying year for Texas. The season
has been unusually wet. Owing to this and to the
entire loss of at least half the corn and cotton
crops on our two principal rivers, the Brazos and
the Colorado, by the unprecedented overflow in
May. The crop cannot be estimated at more than
half what it would have been in a normal year
(Sturgeon 1943:37).

The Brazos River crested on June 15 and by June 23 the flood had sub-
sided, "leaving a thick Tayer of silt which emitted a sourish stench.
Mosquitoes bred by the millions" (Creighton 1975:80).

The asiatic cholera was a scourge in Asia before 1830, and then spread
along trade routes into Europe. In 1832, it appeared on the U.S.
Atlantic coast, and reached New Orleans in October, where it took a
tremendous toll (Hogan 1975:228). The alarming report of the New
Orleans epidemic was sent to the Political Chief of the Department of
Bexar, and San Antonio (which escaped the epidemic that year) prepared.
Between April 10 and April 12, 1833, out of the approximately twenty
settlers at the mouth of the Brazos River, eleven became sick and seven
of those died by April 16. The disease spread inland. At Brazoria,
about 80 died including John Austin and both of his children, along with
WiTliam Austin's wife and daughter and the eldest daughter of Henry
Austin. Most of the survivors had fled the settlement. Later that year
what may have been cholera reached Stephen Austin in Mexico. After his
recovery he wrote "there were 43,000 sick here at one time. The deaths
I believe have been about 18,000. I have never witnessed such a horrible
scene of distress and death" (Haggard 1937:217-230). Two doctors who
were at Columbia stated in Tater l1ife that the cholera was accompanied
by yellow fever. The cholera disappeared by the end of October (Hogan
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1975:228). George Bernard Erath (1923:221), an 1832 immigrant from
Vienna, described the town and the times of Velasco in April 1833:

Brazoria at this time was perhaps the most promi-

nent shipping point at Texas . . . The Brazos was
deemed navigable to Bell's Landing ten miles
above Brazoria . . . . After the Battle of Velasco

in June 1832, the town of Velasco was laid off
near the site of the battle, and it now had about
fifty inhabitants. The houses were mere shanties

with one unfinished two-story building . . . making
of salt from salt wells near the beach . . . was
conducted on a very small scale by the two brothers
Porter.

In May, while Erath (1923:223) was working for the Porters, he took the
bilious fever of the country and hardly knew what was going on for ten
days or so. In that time the cholera had also visited the place, and
four or five people were dead from it.

In Mexico, December 1833, Austin learned that the law forbidding immi-
gration from the United States had been repealed. Tariff exemptions and
improved mail service would be referred to the treasury department.
Trial by jury would be recommended to the state government and the
federal government would do what it could to prepare Texas for state or
territorial government. Austin had accomplished most of what he had set
out to do. But on January 3, 1834, he was arrested. He had written to
the San Antonio ayuntamiento in October, urging it to take the lead in
establishing a provisional state government. The letter ultimately
reached Gomez Farias, Vice President at the time (he and Santa Anna
alternated in the two highest offices). Austin would remain imprisoned
for a year, and be restricted to the Federal District for an additional
seven months (Barker 1969:374-394). The repeal of the ban on United
States immigration came at the time of the bank panic of 1833-1834:

The panic . . . was widespread in its results
and reduced thousands of prosperous people to
straightened circumstances and many more to ab-
solute poverty . . . . The distress was greatest
in the Atlantic States, and a great many of all
walks of 1ife sought new fields of enterprise

in the Middle West-Kentucky, Tennessee and
Missouri; in the Northwest, as Ohio, Indiana and
I1Tinois were then designated, and in the South-
west, as Alabama, Mississippi .and Louisiana were
grouped . . . and Texas just then loomed up as a
land of promise, and shared in the general move-
ment (Gray 1965:111).

Heavy immigration would follow.

At about the time of Austin's arrest, Gomez Farias, believing Texas to
be on the verge of secession, dispatched Colonel Juan N. Almonte to
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Texas to make an inspection. The results were published in the "Statis-
tical Report on Texas." Almonte (1925:197-206) reported that the village
of Velasco had about 100 persons living under its jurisdiction and he
mentions that the military post of Velasco had "for the present been
abandoned by our troops." He noted that the Anglo-American did "not
like to build large towns." He found the ports enjoying the greatest
trade to be Brazoria and Matagorda, and while Brazoria had flourished up
to the 1832 cholera epidemic, the opening of the new part of Matagorda
and the unhealthy climate "caused it to suffer a great decline." He
found Galveston to be the best situated and strongly urged its develop-
ment as a port and naval base. He noted ". . . only by having there an
able navy can the slave-trade carried on . . . be stopped."” He recorded
that the Brazos River was navigable for 250 or 300 miles, and that a
small steamboat made trips between San Felipe and the mouth of the
Brazos River.

There is a hint that the illegal slave trade referred to by Almonte may
have centered on the mouth of the Brazos River. James W. Fannin, Jr.

(of the Goliad tragedy), and his family came to Texas in 1834 and settled
at Velasco, where his letters affirm that he was a slave trader (Webb
1952 1:582-583). Monroe Edwards came to Texas about 1827 where he
associated himself with an unscrupulous New Orleans adventurer smuggling
slaves from Cuba to Texas. This yielded him $50,000 which he invested 1in
Brazoria County lands. In partnership with Christopher Dart, he bribed
officials at the mouth of the Brazos River and smuggled in about 185
slaves in early 1836. Edwards later tried to swindle his partner through
forgery, went on to bigger swindles and ultimately died in Sing Sing
prison after a severe whipping in 1847 (Webb 1952 1:547).

Also in 1834, Thomas F. McKinney, who in Missouri had been an early
trader to Santa Fe, who was one of Austin's 300, and who began keel-
boating and trade with New Orleans about 1830, formed a partnership with
Samuel M. Williams, Austin's secretary and partner (Webb 1952 II:117-
915). McKinney and Williams started at Brazoria but soon transferred to
the new settlement of Quintana with a warehouse sixty feet square.

Local tradition is that Quintana was established in the early 1820s and
named for Andreas Manuel Jose Quintana, 1822-1823 foreign minister under
Iturbide. Both McKinney and Williams lived at Quintana. They estab-
Tished a 1ine of three small steam vessels carrying merchandise and
supplies upriver and export products bound for New Orleans downriver
(Nichols 1953:198-199). The firm aided the provisional government
during the revolution by issuing notes to circulate as money and by the
use of the three vessels, the Lauwra, the VYellow Stone, and the Lagitte.
On their private credit they were able to advance the Republic of Texas
more than $150,000. It was the largest commission-merchant firm in
early Texas and controlled much of the cotton trade. In 1837, the firm
began banking in Quintana and by 1837 (or 1838) the firm moved to
Galveston and became increasingly active in lands, banking and indus-
trial and town promotion--at one time owned one fifth of the city of
Galveston (Webb 1952 II:118; Nichols 1953:199-204; Hogan 1975:102). On
April 22, 1835, Samuel A. Maverick, on a land buying trip to Texas, went
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ashore at Velasco and noted that Velasco had eight or ten families and
Quintana on the west side had two or three families and the McKinney and
Williams wholesale store (Green 1952:25).

Almonte's (1925) Statistical Report testifies to the generally peaceful
conditions in Texas in 1834. However, in Coahuila a small civil war
erupted over control and location of the government. This continued
into 1835 and in March, laws were passed which allowed gigantic land
speculation. Several prominent Texans were involved including Samuel M.
Williams, and there was considerable disgust in Texas. At the same time
Santa Anna was consolidating his power; he placed himself at the head of
the army and crushed an insurrection in Zacatecas. In May, the Mexican
congress essentially overthrew the Constitution. In the meantime a
military structure was imposed on Texas. Martin Perfecto de Cos,
brother-in-law of Santa Anna, was commandant of the Eastern Interior
Provinces, and he appointed Colonel Domingo de Ugartechea commandant for
Texas. In January 1835, Captain Antonio Tenorio, his garrison, and a
customs collector (with a deputy for the Brazos River) arrived at Anahuac,
and history repeated itself. The news that citizens had been arrested
at Anahuac and that General Cos had arrested Governor Viesca reached San
Felipe at about the same time, and Tetters a courier was carrying to
Tenorio were siezed. One was from Cos promising heavy reinforcements
and another from Ugartechea saying the troops which had crushed Zaca-
tecas were at Saltillo on the way to Texas. Considerable unrest followed,
and on June 29, at Anahuac, William B. Travis, with twenty-five men and
a cannon, demanded and received Tenorio's surrender. This act and
others by the more rebellious citizens were widely condemned, and many
peace resolutions were passed. However, Cos demanded the arrest of
Travis and several others including some of the speculators, such as
Williams. This and Cos' intention of occupying San Antonio reversed
many minds, and on August 20 a committee representing a deeply troubled
citizenry called for a Consultation to meet October 15 at Washington on
the Brazos River (Barker 1969:395-409). After his long imprisonment,
Austin arrived at Velasco on September 1, with his mind clear as to what
course Texas should take. His "peace party" had opposed the Consulta-
tion, but Austin endorsed it and worked hard to prepare for it--and for
war. He had reached the decision that Texas must be independent. The
seven month war began with a skirmish at Gonzales on October 2. On
October 11, Austin was elected commander-in-chief, and the next day the
march on San Antonio began. General Cos had landed at Copano in Septem-
ber and entered San Antonio on October 7. At San Antonio, Austin's army
went through a period of confusion and indecision. On November 3, the
Consultation met and established a provisional state government. Austin
was sent to the United States to obtain aid. Volunteers from the United
States soon began arriving in Texas and would continue for many months.
On December 5, the assault on San Antonio began. On December 10, Cos
capitulated and marched his forces south. Then a Tong series of reverses
began. On January 20, 1836, Fannin sailed from Velasco to Copano Bay
with some 450 men and camped at Goliad. Dr. Grant with a smaller force
moved to the San Patricio area. In the meanwhile, Santa Anna was moving
north with a Targe force. He laid siege to the small force of Travis in



21

San Antonio on February 23 and stormed "Fortress Alamo" on March 6.
General Urrea's cavalry wiped out the San Patricio force in late Feb-
ruary and early March, and Fannin's force at Goliad in late March. Then
Santa Anna divided his force into five divisions and proceeded east,
burning everything in their path. The ensuing panic, known as the
“Runaway Scrape" was at its height when the word came of Houston's
victory at San Jacinto on April 21 and the capture of Santa Anna (Barker
1969:410-426; Fehrenbach 1968:191-233).

Meanwhile Velasco had become a strong point in the Texas naval defense
and would continue in this role for several months, which may explain
the Tater selection of Velasco as the interim capital. McKinney and
WiTliams (Jenkins 1973 II: 211-212; Webb 1952 1:403) wrote to Gail
Borden and R. R. Royall at the Consultation which met at San Felipe on
October 16 reporting that the Fort of Velasco was able to repel any sea
force which might wish to land there, being armed by "a most superior
long 18 pounder," some small guns and sufficient ammunition. They also
reported the arrival of volunteers from the United States and supplies
being sent to the army, and requested information on what supplies were
needed. On the 29th they again wrote Royall ("President of the Council
of all Texas"), reporting a Mexican cruiser off Quintana and an exchange
of fire. They would definitely take the vessel, but wished to point out
that the United States citizens among them risked piracy charges. They
warned the Consultation:

The Mexican Government will doubtless send a
maritime force to annoy our Coast and cut off

our supplies and intercourse with the United
States, if they can succeed almost total ruin
will be the consequence . . . Now what are we to
do to protect ourselves . . . the most active
measures are needed to counteract the advan-

tage . . . Santa Anna has over us by having armed
vessels already on the Gulf and some of them
actually upon us . . . Would it not be well for
the Consultation . . . to issue commissions for
armed vessels . . . and in three weeks or four . . .
our coast will be cleared.

United States officers were with them and would assist them in taking
the Mexican vessel and would await the commissions (Jenkins 1973 I1:260-
261). The General Council (charged with managing Texas during the
provisional government) met on November 14, and on the next day, passed
bills to purchase four schooners, organize a Texas Navy, and issue
letters of marque to privateers (Webb 1952 1:677-678; I11:749).

The Republic of Texas began with the Convention of 1836, which met on
March 1 at Washington on the Brazos River, declared independence on
March 2, wrote a constitution, elected an interim government (David G.
Burnet, president; Lorenzo de Zavala, vice-president), and with the
report of the approaching Mexican army, adjourned in haste on March 17.
The interim government moved to Harrisburg, then, barely escaping Santa
Anna, who burned Harrisburg on April 16, to Galveston and then to
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Velasco. Afture his capture on April 21, Santa Anna was taken from
Galveston to Velasco, which would serve as the capital of the Republic
until establishment of the permanent government at Columbia in October.
Santa Anna signed the Treaty of Velasco there on May 14. The public
treaty provided for cessation of hostilities, restoration of property
and retirement of the Mexican forces beyond the Rio Grande. Included in
a secret treaty was Santa Anna's pledge to use his influence to obtain
recognition of Texas independence in return for his return to Mexico.

On June 1, de Zavala and Bailey Hardeman were ready, as commissioners,
to embark with Santa Anna for Mexico on the Invinceabfe. Opposition to
allowing Santa Anna's departure was ignited into a mutiny by a newly
arrived force of volunteers from the United States led by General Thomas
Jefferson Green. Burnet was forced to transfer his distinguished prisoner
to Quintana. Santa Anna remained a prisoner under deplorable conditions
until Tate in the year. The government was powerless to enforce the
Treaty of Velasco, and as Santa Anna remained a prisoner, Mexico had
every reason to repudiate it (Friend 1969:70-72; Fehrenbach 1968:243-
2445 Pierce 1969:165).

The period of Velasco as the capital of the Republic must have given the
economy of the 1ittle town a boost. Mary Austin Holley (1836:121-122),
in her book promoting Texas, described the mouth of the Brazos River in
rosy terms:

Velasco . . . is celebrated for its salt works
which are very notable. It is a small town but
is well situated, and is in a flourishing state.
A collector of customs resides there. Velasco

is the resort, in summer, of great numbers of
visitors from the north of the colony, who come
to enjoy the delightful sea-breezes, sea-bathing
and the comforts with which they are everywhere
surrounded. Excellent accommodations can always
be obtained at boarding houses which, among other
attractions, are always furnished with supplies
of oysters and fish of the first quality. A
Mexican garrison was formerly stationed at Velasco;
at present it is the rendezvous of the patriot
troops . . . Quintana is a town in embryo con-
taining a proprietor's house belonging to

Mr. McKinney and a large warehouse . . .

The patriot troops referred to by Mrs. Holley seem to have been con-
centrated at Velasco during this period. Quartermaster-General Almanzon
Houston opened his office there in July 1836 and divided his time
between Velasco and Quintana. Fort Velasco was probably well manned
during the time Velasco was the seat of government, but probably only a
small company was there afterward. There seems to have been a mutiny
and one or more duels (Pierce 1969:164-166). A soldier stationed there
in 1837 recalled a Mexican invasion attempt, a mutiny, and a fire which
burned the barracks to the ground (Seele 1979:99, 102-103).
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During the period of the Republic, speculation in lands and town building
and promotion were rampant. John A. Wharton, William H. Wharton, Branch
T. Archer and General Thomas Jefferson Green were the guiding lights of
Velasco (Hogan 1975:89). 1In 1837, a great hurricane swept eastward

along the Texas coast, wrecking nearly every vessel. It blew away all
the houses on Galveston Island and sent flood waters fifteen or twenty
miles inland. James Morgan (Bass and Brunson 1978:57) wrote encour-
agingly to Samuel Swartwout, who had purchased town Tots in Velasco:

Velasco, I think was benefited by the great gale
in as much as there was not a general overflowing
of this place and there was at Galveston or nearly
so--It has strengthened confidence in the friends
of Velasco and from the Tocal advantages that
place promises, it must go ahead--I am strongly
inclined to the opinion that it will be the seat
of Govt. at some day.

Morgan came to Texas in 1830 and opened a store at Anahuac. He later
developed the area now known as Morgan's Point. During the revolution,
Tike McKinney and Williams, he furnished the government with merchandise
and the use of his ships, and, as commandant, he fortified Galveston
IsTand. Later he became the "father of the Houston Ship Channel."
Swartwout, collector of the Port of New York (where he had paid repair
bills for two Texas naval vessels) was involved in business with Morgan.
Two months Tlater Morgan ({bid.:65) was less optimistic when he wrote:

Velasco is going ahead slowly . . . All Texas
wants to settle on the Bays . . . 1and increasing
in value and changing hands daily.

General Thomas Jefferson Green seems to have been the most visible
Velasco citizen at this time. He was a planter in Florida where he
organized the Texas Land Company. He came to Texas in 1835 with capital
to acquire land. Instead, he was commissioned brigadier general and
returned to the United States to raise volunteers. A Bexar County
representative in 1836, he was elected to the State Senate in 1837, but
his seat was declared vacant soon after the session opened. He later
took part in the Mier expedition, was imprisoned in Mexico, and went to
California in 1849 (Webb 1952 1:727-728).

Horse racing was a universal American sport during this period, and
Velasco was one of the chief racing centers, with large purses and heavy
wagering. General Green:

. was a moving spirit among several prominent
men who were officers of the New Market course at
Velasco . . . General Green . . . had been the
most successful operator on the Texas tracks. He
was president of the Velasco club in 1839, and the
owner of a string of horses which ran successfully
both in Texas and the United States (Hogan 1975:
130-131).
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The racing meets were festive occasions. Mary Austin Holley (1808-1846,
Letter February 21, 1838) wrote to her daughter Mrs. Brand from Peach
Point in early 1838:

There is to be a great ball at Velasco tomorrow . .
Being the period of the races . . . Everything
available for dresses in Texas has been bought up
for the occasion. Confectionary and ornaments

are to be brought by the Cofumbia from New
Orleans.

Other amenities were established during this period, with the Archer
House in Velasco offering hotel accommodations. In Quintana, Mrs. Gibbs
opened a boarding school for young ladies, which offered chemistry,
philosophy, botany--even calisthenics (Hogan 1975:107, 145). Some com-
petition between Quintana and Velasco is indicated in a letter (Gulick
and E11iot 1921:82) of Mrs. Holley's cousin, James F. Perry (brother-in-
law of Stephen F. Austin, executor of his estate after his death on
December 27, 1836, and owner of Peach Point Plantation where he was
buried). He wrote to President Lamar on January 3, 1839 that he had
heard the custom house had been moved from Quintana to Velasco, and he
suggested that Velasco was "not the best place . . . vessels cannot lie
there with safety in rough weather." Apparently, Thomas F. McKinney had
donated two lots for the new custom house (.ibid.). Perry may have been
concerned over Austin family interests in Quintana. McKinney and Williams
by then were in booming Galveston, where they established trade connec-
tions for English goods in return for Texas cotton (Nichols 1953:205).

William C. Sheridan (Pratt 1954:18-20), an Englishman who visited and
described the Galveston of that period, also recorded his impressions of
Velasco in January 1840:

Between 20 and 30 irregularly built huts and
houses---situated---on a low sandy beach wh soon
merges into a flat shrubless, prairie extending
as far as the eye can reach. There are a few
houses on the left side of the river . . . but
the greater part locate on the right . . . The
shore . . . is covered for miles--even almost
unto Galveston . . . with the trunks of trees,
some of enormous size and principally (cotton
wood) . . . This circumstance . . . is of the
greatest service to the inhabitants . . . supply-
ing them with fuel and timber--once or twice a
year a party journey up the river and cut down

a large quantity . . . float to the Gulf . . .
strong current from the East wh meeting with the
flowing waters of the Brazos, hauls up the wooden
freight upon the Beach.

Sheridan noted some of the more prominent citizens, Mr. Thompson, the
harbor-master and pilot, General Green, John Sharp, the United States
Consular Agent William T. Austin (brother-in-law of John Austin and .
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customs collector), and Reuben M. Potter, his deputy, whose long and
interesting career included work as translator, interpreter, quarter-
master and historian (Webb 1952 II1:401). Also mentioned was Mrs.
Seffield, the dancing mistress. He estimated the population at about
300 and described the armament (from the fort?) in front of the court-
house--an old brass 18 pounder and three smaller guns. Game was

described as being plentiful. "Ducks, snipes, geese, turkeys and all."
M11k was not available because the "cows of Velasco . . . are driven
into the woods to recruit their energies with the young grass." He

described the food eaten as pork, turkey, oysters, and catfish for
breakfast. One dinner was fat pork, wild turkey, fried liver, turnips,
sweet potatoes, pickles, peach jam and other "dainties." Sheridan was
alarmed that the natives ate mainly with the knife, and picked their
teeth with the pocket knife (Pratt 1954:12-22).

The early 1840s seem to have been hard times in Velasco. The Panic of
1837 Teft the United States in a depression in 1840, and Europe was
having problems also. Cotton prices were depressed. Money was scarce
and business in Texas stagnated. Barter and exchange became the mode of
business with a cow and a calf representing ten dollars. Partial
failure of the cotton crops occurred in 1842 and 1843 (Hogan 1975:94-
95), Galveston was hit by a hurricane in 1842 with $50,000 damage
(Branda 1976:424), and there was flooding of the Brazos River in late
1843 (Curlee 1923:97). James Morgan (Bass and Brunson 1978:184) wrote
Swartwout of the situation in June 1842:

We can in Texas nearly one and all exclaim with
Tago, "he who steals my purse steals trash."

Why if you could only see some of the great men
of Texas . . . If you could only know the fact
of their situation . . . their real poverty and
distress . . . when Sam Houston never had enough
money within the Tast 2 years to purchase him a
suit of clothes . . . you can have no idea of
the scarcity of money in this country.

By the period between annexation and the Civil War, Velasco and its
sister city across the river seems to have reached their peak, perhaps
even before the hurricane of 1854 which did heavy damage to both towns
(Branda 1976:424). Merle Weir (Webb 1952 11:835) described the ante-
bellum towns:

They were summer resorts for the wealthy planta-
tion families for the region. A seminary for
young ladies and one for young men taught by
Oxford graduates were established. Comfortable
hotels were built to accommodate the visitors

and the patrons of the race track located a short

distance up the river.

Some insight into these "wealthy plantation families" can be gained from
1850 statistics. Brazoria County had a white population of 1329, the
colored population was 3512, the highest proportion and second highest
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total of all the Texas counties. It was by far the largest producer of
sugar with nearly five million pounds and fourth leading cotton producer
with 3500 bales (Olmsted 1978:473-479).

Traditional Velasco history holds that the completion of the Galveston
Brazos Navigation Company canal started the decline of Velasco, divert-
ing its trade to Galveston (ibid.). It is more likely that the decline
in the importance of Velasco as a port began with the relocation of
McKinney and Williams to Galveston and the rapid growth of that port and
city (to more than 4000 in 1850, the state's leading city). Mrs.
Holley, who made her first trip to the Austin colony in 1831 by way of
the Brazos River, spent a day and a half waiting for a favorable tide to
cross the troublesome bar, and another day and a half traveling the
thirty miles upriver (fifteen by land). On her next trip, she preferred
to Tand at Galveston, bustling in spite of the recent (1837) hurricane,
travel by steamer to Houston and travel overland to Brazoria. By that
time the Brazos River planters were hauling their product to Houston,
then by water to Galveston (Sibley 1967:33-34). The Galveston Brazos
Navigation Company was chartered in 1850 to construct a canal between
Galveston Bay and the Brazos River. By 1855, the four and a half mile
canal plus thirty miles of waterway were completed. The canal was fifty
feet wide and three and a half feet deep and could accommodate small
steam vessels. The canal enjoyed some initial success and probably had
a negative impact on the port of Velasco, but the cost of keeping the
canal open exceeded profits and the developing Houston rail network soon
overshadowed both (Fornell 1961:29-30).

Secession sentiment was strong in Texas at the beginning of 1861,
particularly in the plantation country along the Brazos River. The
Secession Convention met in late January and voted to secede, which was
ratified by popular vote on February 23. In San Antonio, Major General
David E. Twiggs surrendered the Department of Texas (2700 men and
$3,000,000 in material) to a committee of public safety composed of
Samuel A. Maverick, Thomas J. Devine and P. N. Luckett. General Twiggs
is reported to have left for New Orleans the same day and was commis-
sioned major general in the Confederacy in May (Webb 1952 11:812;
Johnson and Buel 1884:33-36; Fehrenbach 1968:352). In February, Colonel
John S. Ford led an expedition to capture the large concentration of
federal equipment at Brazos Santiago and Fort Brown, where he captured
heavy guns which would be used later in coastal defense--some 32 guns
and 7300 rounds of ammunition. Six more cannons were taken in March at
Fort Clark (Barr 1961: 3-4). The federal forces, paroled, marched to
the coast to be taken to the United States by the sea (among the
parolees Captain Reuben M. Potter, the 1840 deputy collector at Velasco).
On April 17, the confederate policy of parole was reversed; the federal
transport Star of the West (which had been fired on at Fort Sumter in
January) was seized and the remaining federal forces were held as
prisoners (Malsch 1977: 147-151). On April 19, President Lincoln estab-
1ished the naval blockade of the Confederacy. Texas, with some 400
miles of beaches and harbors, presented a formidable challenge for both
the blockaders and the defenders. The initial blockading force was 42
ships, but there was almost no coastal defense. There were no masonry
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forts, few heavy cannons (none mounted) and the prescribed method of
coastal warfare was the artillery duel. Within this concept, earthwork
defenses soon became preferred (Barr 1961: 1). In June 1861, Captain
Walter H. Stevens, assisting in the fortification of Galveston, sub-
mitted a plan of coastal defenses which included a 24-pounder at the
mouth of the Brazos River. In July, the federal warship South Carolina
appeared off Galveston. In September, Colonel Joseph Bates was ap-
pointed commander of the Fourth Texas Volunteer Regiment to defend the
coast between San Luis Pass and Caney Creek. Companies B and F served
the heavy guns at the mouth of the Brazos River.

Early in the war, General Hebert, commander of the Confederate forces in
Texas, pulled back the artillery to the mainland (at least to Galveston)
(ibid.:3-8). In Galveston "the Texas and Confederate military authori-
ties decided to abandon the Island to the Yankees . . . and insisted
that the island city should be burned to the ground and the wells

filled with ashes" which the islanders defied (Fornell 1961:298).

In January 1862, federal ships engaged the Velasco shore batteries to
test their strength and range (Barr 1961:9; Creighton 1975:235). No
other engagements seem to have occurred at Velasco until midsummer, when
action took place on July 4 and on August 11 (Creighton 1975:238).

Bates defenses, which appear to have been strengthened, beat off an
attack (Barr 1961:9). The surrender of Galveston to an insignificant
federal force in October aroused sufficient furor to have General Hebert
replaced by General John B. Magruder "wishing to regain a military
reputation he had lost in Virginia." He hastily organized a force and
recaptured the Island on January 1, 1863 (Fornell 1961:298; Webb 1952
I1:131). On September 23, 1863, Brigadier General P. N. Luckett, who
had received the surrender at San Antonio inspected the defenses at the
mouth of the Brazos River. These included a fort on the west bank a
mile above Quintana, one 4 miles upstream from old Velasco on the east
bank, and one at the drawbridge across the canal (Looscan 1897:284). He
found Colonel Bates to be effective and in need of 200 cavalry to aug-
ment his force of 300, in order to be able to defend against a sea
attack or one by land, but not both. Because of the great wealth of the
region and because of the anxiety of the inhabitants for their property
(primarily slaves) Luckett recommended the reinforcement. The fort on
the west bank of the river had three guns in position--a 24-pounder, an
8-inch howitzer, and a 32-pounder sent over from Sabine Pass, possibly
from one of the federal warships captured in the battle there earlier
that month. The fort on the east bank had not been completed. There
was an 18-pounder mounted on the right bastion. A 32-pounder also from
Sabine Pass was put in position "but the platform being too small, at
the first discharge the gun flew off." A Targer platform had been
built. The engineer reported it would take 200 men 15 days to complete
the fort using slave labor from the vicinity. On the 22nd, a vessel
fleeing "from the three masted schooner of the enemy which has been
cruising for some time past off the mouth of the Brazos" was inten-
tionally run aground and burned. On the 24th, a vessel with $9000 in
merchandise ran the blockade. There were eleven vessels in port, one
with import goods, most of the rest with cotton. The vessel and the




28

surrounding bridges were to be burned if jeopardized. General Luckett
found the discipline good but the garrison suffering from the diet of
cornmeal and the brackish water, owing to the drought. Also at Velasco
was a battery in good order except the horses (which had returned from a
hard trip into Louisiana), and a well-mounted and well-armed company of
State troops, with another company to arrive in a few days. The
hospital was small and in poor condition (United States Department of
War I-XXVI-I1:263-264).

From 1863 to the end of the war large numbers of troops were stationed
on Galveston Island and were an economic asset to the city. This also
appears to have been the case at Velasco (Fornell 1961:299; Creighton
1975:244-245), Also the sea-faring Galvestonians and their blockade-
runner associates developed techniques to outwit the federal war
vessels, and a thriving trade developed between Galveston and Europe and
the West Indies, particularly in late 1864 and 1865, after the ports
east of the Mississippi had been closed; this was also probably true to
a lesser extent at Velasco (Fornell 1961:299; Barr 1961:29). According
to local informants, Confederate troops pulled up for firewood the last
remaining traces of old Fort Velasco (Looscan 1897:283).

After the surrender of Lee at Appomatox in April 1865, the Trans-
Mississippi Department of the Confederacy tried desperately to negotiate
more favorable terms. The order to evacuate Galveston in order to
concentrate the forces at Houston triggered the breakup of the army. In
groups of various sizes, they headed for home, for Mexico (including the
Governor, General Magruder and General Luckett), and for elsewhere.
Lawlessness prevailed and the occupying forces, when they arrived, were
too few to be able to impose order. The state was placed under military
rule. The planter class was virtually wiped out. More than 200,000
former slaves were suddenly free. Cotton prices dropped, land values
collapsed and estates were Tost. The new elite were mercantile and the
term "planter" disappeared from the Texas vocabulary. Taxes were high
but the treasury was empty. Corruption was widespread and a widely-
hated state police was established. This "reconstruction" ended in
Texas on January 19, 1874 (Fehrenbach 1968:393-432). To add to the
other problems of Reconstruction, in 1867 a yellow fever epidemic was
widespread in Texas, taking a heavy toll in Houston, Galveston and
Indianola and reaching far inland to places that had not been seriously
affected before (Malsch 1977:192-193). To add to the misery, the same
year a hurricane struck south of Galveston, with $1,000,000 in damages
at Galveston (Branda 1976:424). With the arrival of summer, the next
year, the Fifth Military District established quarantine stations on the
Gulf Coast to inspect all incoming ships and passengers. In the mean-
time, efforts were being made to bolster the economy at the mouth of the
Brazos River. In 1872, it was proposed to construct an artificial
harbor, to be the terminus of the Columbia Tap Railroad (to connect with
the rail from Houston to Columbia). Apparently, lack of financing ended
the project (Malsch 1977:225).

After Reconstruction, with the growth of Texas ports and the increased
population on the coast, Texas would have to come to grips with the
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forces of nature. In 1875, a hurricane passed over Cuba, brushed the
Florida Keys, and turned west, blocked by a high pressure area over the
United States. It passed south of Galveston from September 15-18 doing
great damage and the water Tevel was the highest known to that time.

The eye passed over or near Indianola at the mouth of Matagorda Bay in
the early morning of the 17th, destroying three-fourths of the buildings
in that city and wrecking most of the rest--with 176 dead (Malsch 1977:
228-248). At Velasco, it "destroyed even the records of the town" (Webb
1952 11:835). At Quintana, according to Humphries (1933), 175 people
took refuge in the Seaburn home, then retreated to the schooner Verbena
and rode out the storm. The Signal Corps called it the most severe
hurricane up to that time and apparently, the hurricane warning flag of
today was a result of the storm (Malsch 1977:251-253). The warning flag
did not help in 1886. On August 19, when the Indianola weather observer
received warning, the fast moving hurricane had already struck. He died
at his duty. This storm, with higher winds than in 1875, finished
Indianola, destroying or damaging every building. The hurricane left a
trail of wind damage all the way to San Antonio, where the wind was
recorded at 72 miles per hour when the roof of the weather station
building was torn off and the anemometer wrecked (.{bid.:262-266). The
1886 storm appears to have finished old Velasco as well as Indianola.

In 1891, the modern period of the mouth of the Brazos River began when
Velasco was moved away from it. The same company, apparently, (Texas
Land and Immigration Company) which had founded Angleton the previous
year founded the new town four miles upriver from old Velasco. At about
the same time the Velasco Terminal Railway was chartered. Twenty miles
of track were laid to the International and Great Northern at Chenango
Junction. This railway went into receivership when plans for a deep-
water port failed, but the Seaboard and Gulf Steamship Company was later
established to operate with the rail line. 1In 1893, the San Antonio and
Gulf Shore Railway was chartered to run from San Antonio to Velasco and
29 miles of track were laid but this also failed (Webb 1952 I:50, 848,
849; 11:543, 836). Weather plagued the new town as it had the old. In
summer 1899, the record flood of the Brazos River occurred, and in
September of the next year 75 percent of the houses in Velasco (which
had grown to 3000) were destroyed by the "Great Galveston Storm" which
killed 6000 to 8000 at Galveston. Eight died at Velasco (Webb 1952
11:836; Mason 1972:221; Creighton 1975:318). In July 1909, Velasco had
jts own hurricane with half the town destroyed, 41 dead and damage of
$2,000,000 (Texas Almanac 1974:555).

Then in 1912, across the river, Freeport was founded by the Townsite
Company, New York capitalists interested in developing the region's
sulfur deposits. The next year the 200-mile section of the Gulf Intra-
coastal Waterway below Galveston was opened. Later the oil resources of
the region were developed. In 1929, a river diversion channel was
dredged Teaving the old channel as a tidal basin port (Webb 1952 1:646,
746). In 1939, Dow Magnesium Corporation built their plant to extract
magnesium from seawater, and in 1942, coastal defenses were built to
protect that strategic plant. A1l the factors were then present for the
making of today's vital Brazosport. The area at the mouth of the old
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river channel was not abandoned. Quintana remained as a small village,
and soon after the establishment of the new Velasco, the community of
Surfside began to occupy the lower part of the site of old Velasco, as a
seaside community paralleling the Gulf beach. The floods and hurricanes
continued, with great floods in 1913 and 1915. During the second great
Galveston hurricane in 1915, fourteen lives were lost at the Life Saving
(Coast Guard) Station at Surfside Beach, and the station destroyed, to
be rebuilt in 1917 (Creighton 1975:328-331). Other hurricanes followed:
1932, 1941, 1949, and 1961 (Texas Almanac 1974:555-557) and still others
to come will periodically visit the land at the mouth of the Brazos
River. But the port at the mouth of the river had adjusted to the
problem of hurricanes by moving the port away from the river's mouth,
and to the probiem of floods by moving the river away from the port,
leaving the small communities at the old mouth of the Brazos River to
their cycle of destruction and renewal.

Structural Research

Methodology

The principal goals of this project were to determine if any portions
survived of the Mexican Fort Velasco and the original town of Velasco.
A secondary purpose was to survey a portion of the townsite of Quintana
for original structural traces.

In order to test for these sites, reasonable hypotheses for their loca-
tions were necessary. Such a set of hypothetical locations was compiled
by historical research prior to the beginning of excavation.

It was quickly discovered that although two quite similar plats of the
town plans of Velasco and Quintana existed, their locations on the
present ground was unknown, since no apparent reference points survived
to tie them down to specific positions. Since all subsequent work
depended on a relatively accurate replotting of the plan of Velasco on
the ground, this problem was approached first.

The first necessity was to overlay the most dependable town plat of
Velasco and the 1852/58 United States Coastal Survey (USCS) plan of the
town, which showed structures and fences, but gave no hint of where on
the plan of the town these structures stood.

In order to do this, a deed-transfers density plot was worked up from an
examination of the deed records: a plan of the town was drawn, and Tlots
were shaded in each time they were bought and sold (see Fig. 3). Lots
which were bought or sold more often were therefore shaded much darker
than those which were bought or sold more rarely. The deed density map
showed an obvious similarity to the 1858 USCS map, and strongly argued
for the identification of the town square visible on the USCS map as
Monument Square on the town plat. The identification of this square and
the associated streets was confirmed by a peculiarity of street alignment
at the corner of Monument Square. What would appear to be Second Street
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is offset towards the northeast by approximately its own width on the
USCS map, and a structure is so placed on the adjoining Tot to the
southwest that it overlaps the Tline where the street apparently should
have gone. Assuming that our placement of the streets and Monument
Square were correct, this structure would be on lots 4, 5, 6, and 7 of
block 13. In Volume C, page 368 of the Brazoria County Deed Records,
Tots 4, 5, 6, and 7 of block 13 were the site of the Archer House Hotel.
The deed states that Tots T and 10 of block 29 (the two lots immediately
across Second Street to the northeast) are "being given up by the
proprietors of said (tract) as a continuation of said Second Street"
because of "the said Archer House having been built in that part of said
street by Mistake." In other words, Second Street was offset north-
eastward into Tots 1 and 10 of block 29 to go around the Archer House
Hotel, which was built in the Tine of the street. This serves as a
positive proof of our identification of the square, streets, and blocks.

After the location of actual structures in 1858 onto the town plan, the
next step was to Tocate the town plan with respect to the present topo-
graphy. Deed and map research told us that the sizes and alignments of
the various land grants in the area were inconsistent through time. The
Asa Mitchell survey line, for example, had at least four different
locations for its northeastern corner, with variations of several hun-
dred feet between the locations. This corner, if it could be located
with certainty, would have been critical for the accurate location of
the Velasco town plan, but such a difficulty meant that the location of
the town plat on the ground by using the position of the Asa Mitchell
grant Tines was not possible. It was decided that the best method would
be through the use of a combination of landmarks common to the various
maps of the area made over the years, and the location of specific
properties whose position in the original town plan were known.

By a process of rescaling the maps of various periods in the life of the
town, the overlay map shown in Figure 2 was produced. Using an early
version of this map, our excavation units were placed on or near the
locations of buildings where these were accessible. Many building sites
were in swamps, under roads, or in the line of drainage bulldozing, and
therefore could not be investigated. Excavation units were placed in
areas considered to have the greatest chance of locating structural
traces.

Structunal History: Compllation

After a relatively good location of the town plan on the ground was
achieved, a structural history of the site was compiled from the general
historical narrative and specific details found in various records.

This was necessary for several reasons: (1) to be able to recognize the
various structures sought after, if they were found; (2) to be able to
recognize the stratigraphic patterns in the ground associated with the
changes through time in culture, plan, and use of the structures located,
if any; (3) to have some idea of how to correct our assumptions about
location and change through time when difficulties in location and
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stratigraphy were encountered; and (4) to minimize our disturbance of
the archaeological record of the site while still acquiring sufficient
information to meet the goals of the project. Given a good research
preparation, a far smaller amount of information retrieval from the
ground is usually enough to recognize a structure or time period than is
the case when Tittle is known about a site.

The following series of maps (see also Table 1) illustrate the growth
and decline of the towns of Velasco and Quintana during the 150 years
sjnce the establishment of the Mexican customs house at the mouth of the
river:

Figure 4; Velasco and Quintana area, 1832: Until 1831, the mouth of the
Brazos River was occupied only by Asa Mitchell's house and salt works.
The Tocations of these structures are unknown, but descriptions indicate
that they were near the river and the shoreline. On this figure they
are placed in arbitrary positions for the purposes of illustration.

In 1831, a customs house, a guard barracks, a commander's quarters, and
a pilot's house were added to the complex. Again, no precise locations
are known for any of these structures. The pilot's house is described
as being on the point of land between the river and the sea, and narra-
tives of the Battle of Velasco indicate that the customs house was on
the river bank, probably immediately between the later position of the
fort and the river. The other structures have been arbitrarily placed.

In 1832, Fort Velasco was constructed. Its location can be reasonably
deduced from the later position of Monument Square in the town of
Velasco, which apparently was placed to contain the ruins of the fort
(oral tradition).

Figure 5; Velasco and Quintana in 1852: By 1833, the Fort of Velasco
was in disrepair and a town had begun to grow on the point of land north
of the river. Several structures built at this time lasted through the
1ife (United States Coastal Survey 1858) of the town. The Archer House
Hotel was one of these, under construction in 1833 and, still standing
in the late 1850s. The town was officially platted in late 1836 or
early 1837 (Rowley 1837), but was already virtually full grown by that
date.

The town peaked in vigor in about 1838, and began a slow decline as
coastal trade began to reroute through the developing ports of Galveston
Bay. By 1852, land transfer activity had become rare.

Quintana had begun as a group of warehouses belonging to McKinney and
Williams after 1833, and by 1835 had grown to a complex of warehouses,
boatslips, and residences. Most of these still stood in 1852, but as in
Velasco, the vigor of the town was in decline.

Figure 6; Velasco and Quintana, 1890: By 1890, at least four major
storms had affected the buildings of Velasco and Quintana, and few
survived. The map (Goode 1890) from which this figure is derived gives
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TABLE 1. STRUCTURAL HISTORY OF VELASCO: AN QUTLINE

ca. 1824

ca. 1826
1831

1832

1833

1836
1837

1838

1845

1852
1853
ca. 1860

1872
1883

1883-1890

1891

1911

1938-1967

Asa Mitchell builds his home, which probably included an inn and
general store.

Mitchell established salt works in the area.

Brazos Hotel established "at the house of Mr. Asa Mitchell." Also
standing at this time were a pilot's house, a barracks for a gar-
rison of Mexican soldiers, the Mexican commanders quarters and
offices, and possibly a separate building serving as the customs
house.

April 19 -- Ugartechea begins construction of Fort Velasco near
the customs house.

April 28 -- Cannon mounted on fort.
May 15 -~ Fort almost complete.

June 23 -- A11 but two buildings outside the fort are burned at
the beginning of the Battle of Fort Velasco. One of the two
unburned structures was the customs house; the other was an
office.

Fort is abandoned, town of a number of shacks and one two-story
structure under construction. This was probably the beginning

of the Archer House Hotel. Possibility that town had been planned
by this date.

Earliest recorded sales of town lots in Velasco.

Date from which town plans survive. Asa Mitchell sells most of
his interest in the town.

Velasco Association, made up of those who held interests in the
town, begins sale. Archer House Hotel found to be extending
into plotted 1ine of Second Street and adjustment made. Original
town plat no longer available. At this time Archer House (Bryan
1965:53-54) described to be "large 2-story with gallery painted
white." Mary Austin Holley describes ruins of Fort Velasco as
within walking distance of Archer House.

Lot sales in Velasco drop below nine lot exchanges per year.
Effective end of growth of town. :

Town plan surveyed by United States Coastal Survey.
First major hurricane hits Velasco.

Confederate coastal defense plan map surveyed. Town has con-
siderably fewer buildings than in 1852.

Effective beginning of renewed interest in Velasco property.

First Goode map of Velasco and Quintana. Beginning of interest
in building jetties at mouth of Brazos.

Goode map sequence showing towns of Velasco and Quintana. Con-
struction of jetties begun in 1889.

Surfside Beach established by Texas Land and Immigration Company
on site of old Velasco. Surfside Hotel established.

First recorded purchase of property by U.S. Government on which
present Coast Guard Station stands.

Most of the streets of Surfside are finally built during this peried.
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us names associated with various houses. Research indicates that each
name is apparently that of the occupant, not specifically the name of
the owner of the property.

Figure 7; Surfside (old Velasco) and Quintana today: The shorelines,
streets and blocks, and house Tocations of 1852 are indicated here to
give an idea of the changes which have occurred in the 130 years since
that plan was made. East Union Creek still survives in part, and the
strange horse-shaped lagoon in Velasco still exists. One road from old
Velasco apparently has continued in use throughout the life of the area.
Today it is called Coast Guard Road or Avenue C. In 1837, it was called
Fort Street and ran along the southeastern side of Monument Square.
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IIT. INTENSIVE SURVEY AND ASSESSMENT

Several preliminary visits to the project area by Anne A. Fox, James E.
Ivey and Waynne Cox during the months previous to the survey had estab-
Tished contact with interested local residents and officials, and provided
opportunities to become acquainted with the project site and its geo-
logical and stratigraphic makeup. These observations were to prove
valuable when the time came to move the crew to Surfside and begin the
second phase of the project.

Methodology

Once the roads and blocks of the original town of Velasco were tenta-
tively Tocated on the present ground surface, the method of investigation
included an intensive survey followed by a stratigraphic test, a large
number of widely separated shovel tests over the area, and a series of
test excavation units to answer specific questions about the structural
locations. The basic excavation unit was a 50-inch square, chosen to
simplify record keeping and to open a sufficient area to allow maximum
observation of both horizontal and vertical features in the soil.

A daily log of field notes was maintained. A separate record sheet was
filled out for each layer within each unit. Plans and profiles were
drawn and a photographic record kept of all excavations. Elevations by
transit were taken of each corner of a layer as it was finished. This
effort, requiring eight transit stations, assured maximum accuracy and
facilitated quick comparisons of elevations between units which were
often quite a distance apart (Fig. 8). The absolute height of each
station was computed directly from the bench mark at the northeast
corner of the Coast Guard Station, elevation 5.79 feet. All measure-
ments were made in feet and tenths of feet. Grid north (aligned about
45 degrees east of true north) was established as perpendicular to the
Brazos shoreline, for purposes of simplification in record keeping.

Excavation was done with trowels, except for the shovel tests, and
except where noted all deposits were screened through 1/4-inch mesh.
Units were excavated by stratigraphic layers, readily determined by
changes in soil color and texture.

Artifacts were placed in bags labelled as to horizontal and vertical
provenience. Each bag was assigned a lot number and returned to the
Center laboratory for processing. At the laboratory the materials were
checked in by 1ot number, washed, and catalogued, ready for analysis.
A11 catalog sheets, site records and photographs have been bound into
notebooks for permanent preservation.

For purposes of analysis, units were grouped according to location with-
in the site and proximity to historic structures as understood from the
research. Artifacts were tabulated by provenience and were then sorted
into groups according to usage, for identification, description and
comparison with those from other sites.
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Animal bone recovered from the site was cleaned, tabulated, and iden-
tified by staff members. Identification was done using the faunal
collection of the Center for Archaeological Research. Since the faunal
recovery was neither complex nor extensive and the deposits all appeared
to be disturbed, more intensive professional analysis was not done.

Field Work

The survey was begun on November 11, 1980, with a walkover of the entire
project area by the archaeological crew. On the Velasco side the entire
width of the project area from the canal to Surf Street was examined.
The area within the project boundaries from this point to the present
shoreline has been deposited and frequently reworked by the Gulf waters
since 1890 (Figs. 6 and 7) and was therefore not intensively surveyed.
However, most of this was surficially examined by Fox during the record-
ing of historic buildings (see Appendix I). Several reexaminations of
the Velasco side in those areas where the buildings of the town had once
stood were carried out at intervals during excavation, as our under-
standing of the stratigraphy and its implications developed. Shovel
testing in the form of holes ca. 30 cm wide and 30 cm deep was carried
out at the probable sites of these buildings. In each case, nothing
other than a very few artifacts showing the same 1840-1970 mixture seen
everywhere on the site were found.

The majority of the old town site west of Monument Square is marshland
under several inches to two or more feet of water, and thinly covered
with marsh grass 3-5 ft tall. Historical research indicates that no
structures of note stood in these areas. A walking survey in search of
surface artifact scatters was conducted over most of the areas. Those
areas not examined were avoided because they looked unsafe because of
water or mud depth, or because they were covered by obvious mounds of
dredging backdirt.

Since the previous visits, the clearcut stratigraphy visible in the
banks of the river channel had become silted over as a result of Hurri-
cane Allan and canal dredging. The areas previously investigated by
Lynn and Hole on the Quintana side were reexamined. Fortunately, on a
previous visit to the site, careful examinations had been made of these
sites, since these also had by this time been nearly obliterated.

It was decided to begin the field work on the northeast, or Surfside

bank of the river, then to move the focus of the operation to the oppo-
site, or Quintana shoreline.

Strhatighaphic Test No. 1

This 50-inch square unit was laid out just grid north of a small frame
house on the edge of a clump of salt cedars, within the general area
believed to be Monument Square (Fig. 9). The first layer, removed
without screening, was 3.5 inches thick and contained predominantly dark
sandy soil, grass, and random recent trash. The second layer contained



43

Black humic soil

Medium brown sandy clay

URE

Light tan fine sand
0@0 Brick fragments
% Wood fragments

UNIT 7

(grid)

FREEPORT HARBOR PROJECT
4| BO 125

Monument Square Units
Plan view

25 50

—_mq

QO

inches

Figure 9.

Monument Square Units, Plan View.




44

rusted tin can fragments and nails. Fragments of red brick and con-
temporary ceramics and glass artifacts were also present in a Tlighter
tan, sandy clay. Within this layer, two deeper trash pits were found.
Designated P1 and P2, they were 16 inches and 19 inches, respectively,
in diameter and rather shallow. They contained dark gray sandy soil in
which were packed numerous fragments of rusted tin cans and other
unidentifiable objects. They also contained whole and partial bottles
of clear glass, primarily with screw tops, and a few sherds of ceramics.
The majority of these artifacts dated to the post-1900 period. Layer 3
in this unit consisted of sterile, light tan sand.

Apparently this area has been a trash dump since the early 19th century.
Pieces of metal and glass bottles are strewn about beneath a dense cover
of vines. The only early 19th century artifacts present were a few
sherds of blue hand-painted and blue transfer wares. These were mixed
in with fragments of recent, clear glass screw-top jars indicating total
disturbance of the deposit in this area.

Unit 1

This was a 50-inch square unit located on the north side of Monument
Square (Fig. 10,a). Layer 1 was 4 inches of humic, dark brown sandy

soil which overlaid a 1-inch thick deposit of asphalt or tar. Artifacts
in this layer included transfer-printed English ceramics popular in the
early 19th century mixed with fragments of recent glass jars and bottles,
bricks and pieces of composition tile. Beneath the asphalt layer was a
stratum of light gray to tan sandy soil bearing ceramics of the early to
the Tate 19th century. Also present in this layer were fragments of
glass representing dark green wine bottles, an embossed late 19th century
panel bottle and brown and bright green fragments which could be from
20th century beverage bottles. Fragments of transfer ware from this
layer bear designs identical to those from layer 1 above the asphalt.
Layer 3 was sterile, light tan sand which continued to 20 inches. At
this point the water table was reached and excavation ceased.

While this test unit indicates that considerable disturbance has taken
place in the area, there is not as much post-1900 material here as at
Stratifigraphic Test No. 1. Evidently the asphalt deposit does not
separate strata of differing time periods.

At this point a series of shovel tests was excavated to the north and
west of Unit 1 within a radius of 250 feet. This testing was prompted
by Tocal informants' statements that the Fort Velasco Restoration
Association excavations had found that the artifact bearing surface
extended no more than 30 inches below the surface in block 568. Since
the surface of block 568 is approximately one foot higher than that at
Unit 1, it appeared that the artifact bearing layer would be thinner,
going in this direction. Testing showed that the artifact bearing layer
becomes progressively thinner as one moves toward grid north. Sub-
sequent tests indicated that the asphalt zone becomes thicker toward the
southwest, becoming a pavementlike mass 50 feet southwest of Unit 1.



Figure 10. Monument Square Excavations, Photoghaphs. a, north side of
Monument Square, general area of Unit 1, Tooking west; b, Archer House

Hotel area looking northwest.
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This may have been the surface of old Avenue C of the Surfside plat,
which evidently once ran across this general area.

Unit 2

This unit was a 50-inch square excavation, laid out on the north edge of
present 14th Street within the general vicinity of the site of the
Archer House Hotel (Fig. 10,b). It was found to be over a modern gas
pipeline and was abandoned.

Unéts 3, 5, 7, 9, 11, and 15

The above mentioned shovel tests had indicated a concentration of brick
fragments and other artifacts at 6 inches below the surface in an area
about 100-150 feet southwest of Unit 1. Unit 3, a 50-inch square unit,
was laid out in this area (Fig. 11,a). Layer 1, actually the equivalent
of Tayers 1 and 2 in the previous units, consisted of 3-4 inches of dark
gray to black sandy loam which became more densely black toward the
southeast corner. In this corner was found a shallow, pitlike depres-
sion which contained a number of brick fragments. Other similar fragments
were scattered about the area. No other artifacts were present at this
location. However, elsewhere in this layer were found fragments of
brick, shell, glass, a badly rusted nail and one sherd of an English
blue transfer ware cup. Layer 2 consisted of tan, sterile sand with a
dark feature near the west side. This was found to contain wood frag-
ments and tentatively identified as a posthole. Water was encountered
at approximately 24 inches below the surface and excavation ceased in
this unit.

Unit 3 was then expanded by a 50-inch square unit to the east to form a
50 x 100-inch unit. Brick fragments and another sherd of the transfer
ware cup were recovered from layer 1. The bottom of this layer was
found to be very uneven with dips in the center and the northeast
corner. Subsequent clearing of the surface of layer 2 revealed three
features. These consisted of brown to black sandy humus in round-to-
oval shapes. These had brick fragments associated with them. Investi-
gation of these features was stopped when the water level was reached.

Subsequent Units 7, 9, 11, and 15 were laid out in this vicinity in
order to explore the possibility that these features were an alignment
of postholes (see Fig. 11,b). 1In each of these units, the first layer
consisted of a dark humus containing brick fragments, which graded into
a Tight tan sand. Scattered concentrations of brick and charcoal were
found in close conjunction with a Tine of postholes and surviving post
fragments. These suggested that this was the badly disturbed remains of
a 19th century house foundation and a brick chimney base. The fact that
relatively few artifacts were present tends to confirm the impression
that this was an area beneath a structure which may have burned. The
shape and design of the transfer ware cup of which a totaled 19 sherds
were found in this group of units, plus the presence of a number of



Figure 11. Excavation Areas, General Views. a, Units 3,
b, closer view from north showing post in place and water
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sherds of other English ceramics, would appear to date the use of the
structure to the first half of the 19th century. The fact that a
thimble was found there and the delicacy of the cup in question suggests
the presence of a household rather than a military establishment such as
Fort Velasco.

Units 18, 19, and 20

These were 50-inch square units laid out across what was recently a
fenced area near the center of Monument Square (Fig. 9). They proved to
be almost completely sterile, yielding only a few contemporary nails and
glass fragments and no indications of structural remains.

Units 4, 6, &, 10, and 16

These were excavated on the south edge of 14th Street (Fig. 8) where the
Fort Velasco Restoration Association (FVRA) reported finding a remnant
of a brick wall (Howard Fearn, personal communication). Since it seemed
likely that the foundations found farther to the south in this lot were
a part of the Herndon House (Fig. 6) this might possibly be a portion of
the Archer House Hotel.

Unit 4 was a 50-inch square unit, laid out centering on the area indi-
cated as containing the wall. A gray-brown to brown soil containing a
high percentage of sand and broken shell yielded occasional sherds of
early 19th century ceramics, rusted nails, glass, and brick. No semblance
of a wall was found. Sterile tan sand was encountered ca. 1 foot below
the surface. Moving slightly grid east, Units 6, 8, 10, and 16 were
excavated. A confusion of lenses of various colors and textures of
sandy soil was encountered (Fig. 12). While bricks were present, they
did not form any sort of structure but rather appeared to be groupings
of rubble. Round disturbances were identified as planting holes for
shrubs. There were also animal burrows present. One quadrant of Unit
16 was excavated through the sterile white sand to the water table at a
depth of 31 inches.

Artifacts recovered in these excavations represented the entire time
period from the early 19th century to the present. The glass included
early olive and "black glass" wine bottles as well as clear-colored
contemporary screw-top jars and brown glass beer bottles. Ceramics ran
the gamut from early 19th century English wares to late 19th century
ironstone. Fragments of tin cans and heavy rusted scrap metal were also -
found. Building materials present were window glass, nails, composition
tile, and cement mortar. These artifacts were thoroughly mixed within
the deposits. In several cases, contemporary clear glass container
fragments were found near the bottom of units in direct association with
early 19th century ceramics.

Although it seems most likely that the Archer House was located in this
general vicinity, it became apparent that no trace of its structure
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remains in place on this side of the road, and that the cultural depo-
sits have been completely disturbed. This has probably been the result
of numerous storms, flooding, and road construction.

Units 12, 13, and 14

According to local informants, the Fort Velasco Restoration Association
(FVRA) Tocated and exposed, in addition to the brick wall mentioned
above, a brick house foundation, an isolated brick fireplace base, and a
brick cistern (Fig. 8). Although it was apparent that the area had
undergone considerable disturbance during these activities, it was
decided to test within the area for structural clues which might help to
locate the Herndon House. It was also hoped that if a remnant of
undisturbed ground could be found, there might be some of the original
stratigraphy preserved.

Units 12 and 13, each 50 x 100 inches were laid out east and west of the
isolated chimney base, in an attempt to find structural remains in as-
sociation with the chimney. Before stratified excavations began, the
areas were cleared of mounds of what appeared to be backdirt from the
FVRA excavations (indicated in Table 2 as 12 CU and 13 CU). Artifacts
were recovered as noticed during this operation, but the material was
not screened. It soon became apparent that the deposits in both units
still consisted primarily of disturbed artifactual materials, in a
loose, gray-brown sandy soil. A number of darker brown disturbances
were encountered in Unit 12 which may have been postholes but there was
too much disturbance in the unit to be certain. White, sterile sand was
found at the base of the brick foundation at approximately 7.46 inches
below the ground surface in the immediate area.

Unit 14 was then opened to the southeast of Unit 13, in an area which
appeared to be undisturbed. After 3-4 inches of fairly sterile soil had
been removed, a layer of dark gray-brown sandy soil was found to contain
the same assortment of artifacts as found in all layers of Units 12 and
13. No structural features were found in this unit.

The artifact yield was extremely high in comparison with other areas of
the townsite and the assortment included quite a range of dates, from
late prehistoric Indian, represented by one sherd of aboriginal pottery,
to post-1900 ceramics and contemporary beer and Clorox bottles. How-
ever, here as in the units to the north the deposits were thoroughly
mixed and confused. Apparently the inhabitants of the squatters' shack,
removed by the FVRA when they started clearing the lot, dumped their
trash on top of the already confused mid-19th century deposits from the
Herndon House. Then later excavations and earthmoving, in connection
with the FVRA excavations, thoroughly mixed the accumulation. Heavy
20th century concrete objects of unknown origin have also at sometime
been piled on one side of this lot, by the FVRA to use in future recon-
struction of Fort Velasco (George Kramig, personal communication).
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Unit 17

In an attempt to tie the 1858 map to an actual structure in the ground,
an excavation unit was laid out just north of an abandoned farmhouse in
Surfside Tot 559 identified as the Schuster House. According to Tocal
informants, an old house originally stood on this approximate location.
This would have been the structure identified on early maps as the
"Rudder" house (Fig. 6), which was acquired by George Schuster in the
1880s. His grandson, now approximately 72, was born in that house and
relates that it burned in the 1920s. The present house is supposed to
have been built soon after the first one burned. A member of the Schuster
family married the commander of the Coast Guard Station in the 1920s,
and a small house north of the station was built for them (see Appendix

I).

Unit 17, a 50-inch square unit, was placed where the Rudder House should
have been located, according to the early maps. The first layer con-
sisted of ca. 14 inches of dark brown sandy loam which contained late
19th and early 20th century artifacts and local brick fragments. At
this point a 1 to 1-1/2 inch thick layer of asphalt was found, similar
to that in Unit 1. Beneath the asphalt the dark brown, sandy soil
contained ironstone, early 19th century transfer and banded slip
decorated earthenware and porcelain sherds, numerous brick fragments,
pieces of window glass and nails. A sherd with a Rockingham glaze from
this layer cross-mended with one from the first layer. Porcelain doll
parts were also present above and below the asphalt.

Two postholes were discovered in this Tayer, dug through it into
sterile, tan sand. Numerous badly rusted nails lay on the surface of
the sand. The postholes contained fragments of 8-inch diameter posts.
Since the posts were only 25 inches apart, center to center, it does not
appear that they were part of a house foundation. However, the amount
of building debris in the Tlayers below the asphalt strongly suggests
that a structure was once in the immediate vicinity, and the artifacts
point to an early 19th century date of occupation.

Quintana

The documentary research indicated that only a comparatively small por-
tion of the remains of historic Quintana might be included within the
survey area. A careful surface examination of the survey area on the
south side of the river as far east as the 1890 shoreline was done by
the crew. No surface indications were found of further structural
remains. Early 19th century artifacts were found washing up on the
shoreline toward the western end of the survey area, probably from house
sites now beneath the water where the shoreline has receded since that

time (Fig. 5).

Two man-made earthen mounds which support World War II gun emplacements
are located in the area of post-1890 deltaic accretion on the Quintana
side of the channel. These were recorded and described in some detail
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by Ippolito and Baxter (1976:21) and given the site designation 41 BO 116.
After careful examination of the site and of the geology and history of
the area, it is the considered opinion of the authors that the Civil War
gun emplacements were Tocated approximately .2 miles to the northwest of
this point. It is possible that the cut stone used in construction of
the World War II gun emplacements was salvaged from the Confederate

site, but the formation of this area has been too recent for it to

contain Civil War fortifications.
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IV. ARTIFACT DESCRIPTIONS

For purposes of description and analysis, the artifacts recovered have
been organized into categories according to probable use (Table 2).
Since such a Targe proportion of the artifacts was recovered from
totally disturbed deposits, and there has been so much Tocal dumping in
the area, descriptions will be Timited to general categories, with
special attention given to individual objects which may have relevance
to the 19th century occupation of Velasco as a whole. A1l artifacts
illustrated are full size unless otherwise indicated.

Kitchen/Dining Activities

IncTuded in this group are all objects which would ordinarily pertain to
the preparation, serving and consumption of meals.

Cernamics: (Figs. 13, 14; Total 1092 sherds)

The artifact collection includes a complete range of ceramics from a few
prehistoric sherds to contemporary chinawares and Coast Guard-issued
ironstone plates and cups. For purposes of analysis, these have been
divided into groups which tend to reflect both the method of manufacture
and their comparative period of popularity.

Unglazed ware: Sandy paste aboriginal sherds with very fine shell or
bone tempering. One sherd was found on the Velasco side. No other
prehistoric artifacts were in the area. Three similar sherds were found
on the Quintana shoreline, probably some of the last remnants of a site
now inundated. According to Lynn (1979:24) a prehistoric shell midden
was once located in this general area.

Lead-glazed wares: Sandy paste vessels with a lead glaze, made in
Mexico. Two sherds from Velasco have a red body and mahogany-colored
glaze and resemble sherds from early 19th century deposits in the San
Antonio area. Two thick sandy paste sherds from Quintana with the
remains of a lead glaze are from contemporary Mexican-made flower pots.

Deconated whitewares: White paste earthenwares decorated in a variety
of ways were imported from England in great quantities during the first
half of the 19th century. Representatives of this type of ware were
found in every excavation unit on Velasco, as well as on the shoreline
at Quintana. Since these wares have been described in detail in numer-
ous archaeological publications (see Noel Hume 1969:128-133; Davis and
Corbin 1967:15-27), we will refer to them by their commonly used names
and not describe each variety. Edged, or shell-edged wares included
molded but unpainted varieties, and blue, green, and yellow-painted
varieties. Several hand-painted designs were represented (Fig. 13,a),
decorated in shades of rose, green, blue, yellow, often with black
accents and rim bands. Most of the varieties were identical to sherds
found on early 19th century sites throughout Texas. Two rose and green
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Figure 13. Varnious Ceramics and Glass Contalnesns.

a. B]ge, orange, and yellow hand-painted cup, early 19th century (6/8-
4*

b. Blue and yellow hand-painted plate, late 19th century shape, but
early design (12 CU**)

c. Victorian majolica, early 20th century (12 CU)
d. Rose, green, and black design, late 19th century shape (13-2)
e. Rose and green design, early 20th century shape (12 CU)

f. Rose, §reen, and black with yellow background, cup and saucer (12-3,
6/8 CU

g. Mocha design in black and shades of brown (6/8 CU)
h. Banded slipware pitcher in blue, tan, and brown (14-3)

i. Overglaze blue bird decoration on sugar bowl 1id, early 20th
century (ST 1-2)

j. Overglaze decal design in lavender and peach on porcelain saucer,
post-1900 (12 CU)

k. Clear glass bottle made by Owens-I11inois Glass Company, 1929-1954
(Toulouse 1971:403) (12 CU)

1. Pale green panel bottle, lettered " . . . DY/ . . . RK," probably
ca. 1880 (Kendrick 1967:22) (1-2)

m. Two aqua medicine bottles, pontils, Tettered " . . . ER's."
Similar in size and appearance to Essence of Peppermint bottles ca.
1800 to 1850 (Hanson 1981: 10-11) (14-2)

n. Irridescent, pale green medicine bottle, no lettering, probably ca.
1860 (Kendrick 1967:20) (14-2)

*Numbers in parentheses refer to unit and level within the unit where

artifact was found.

**Clean up (CU) indicates artifacts found during clean up of units after
tropical storm of November 14-15, 1981
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Figure 14. Transferwares and Whitewares.
a. Blue floral transfer plate (13-1%)
b. Purple floral transfer saucer (12-1)
c. Blue floral transfer plate (13-1)
d. Dark blue transfer cup, early 19th century (9-1)
e. Mulberry historic scene bowl (12 CU**)
f. Red floral transfer plate (16-2)
g. Blue willow pattern plate (12 CU)

h. Maker's mark, "DAVENPORT." Longport, Staffordshire, 1793-1887
(Godden 1964:189) (Pollan collection)

i.  Maker's mark, "Chinese Pastime/Davenport." Longport, 1820-1860
(ibid.:358) (Surface near Unit 13)

Jj. Maker's mark, "E.J." possibly Elijah Jones, Cobridge, 1831-1839
(ibid.:358) (13-1, 13 CU)

k. Importer's mark, "Henderson and Walton/Importers/New Orleans."
Henderson, Walton and Co. Operating in 1835-1836 (Freeman 1980:30)
(Pollan collection)

1. Importer's mark, "Henderson, Walton and Co." (4bid.) (13 CU)

m. Ironstone tureen, mid-19th century (14-2)

n. Ironstone cup, mid-to-late 19th century (14-2)

0. Ironstone plate, mid-19th century (14-2)

p. Stoneware plate with U.S. Coast Guard emblem, 20th century (12 CU)

q. Common whiteware plate, 20th century (13-2)

r. Stoneware cup, 20th century (12-1)

*Numbers in parentheses refer to unit and level within the unit where
artifact was found.
**Clean up (CU) indicates artifacts found during clean up of units after
tropical storm of November 14-15, 1981.
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floral patterns appear to be later versions of the original varieties,
and may even be American-made (Fig. 13,d,e,f). Banded slipwares include
blue and brown-banded vessels, slip-trailed and mocha patterns in shades
of blue, tan, and brown. Sponged decoration was found on only two
sherds, these being in the Pollan collection from the FVRA excavations.
Transfer patterns, the most numerous type of decoration, were found in
shades of blue, brown, black, red, purple, and green. Of these, the
blue appears to have been the most popular color. This is the only ware
upon which were found maker's marks (Fig. 14,h,i1). Several patterns in
blue and red carried an importer's mark for Henderson, Walton and Company
of New Orleans (Fig. 14,1). Freeman (1980:30) reports that John S.
Menefee of Texana had business dealings with this firm in 1835-1836.

Undecorated whitewares: Includes undecorated portions of decorated
whiteware vessels and ironstone or graniteware. The latter rapidly took
the place of transfer decorated whitewares ca. 1850 (Miller 1980:4) on
the eastern seaboard, and had almost completely taken the place of
decorated earthenwares in Texas by the end of the Civil War. Examples
of Tate 19th century molded ironstone vessel sherds are illustrated in
Figure 14,m,n,0. A molded maker's mark from the base of an ironstone
plate can be dated to May 31, 1858. Sixteen sherds in this group are
from heavy plates and cups attributable to the U.S. Coast Guard (Fig.
14,p). Also included are a few sherds of cheap, early 20th century
white earthenwares, common on farmhouse tables at that time and still
available on the market today (Fig. 14,q,r).

Porcelain: Plain, white sherds from delicate cups and saucers. Also
included are sherds of two ivory cups and a plate which have a delicate,
hand-painted design in red and green and a dinner plate with two blue
painted, overglaze stripes around the rim.

Stoneware: Represented are jugs, churns and jars with salt or Bristol
glaze. The salt-glazed vessels have Albany slip on the interior and
several have traces of blue decoration. One jug lined with a Bristol
glaze is unglazed on the outside. Also included in this category are
sherds of Scottish-made stoneware bottles, ceramic gin jugs and stone-
ware ink bottles. Refined, red-bodied stonewares include one sherd from
a molded, black Tuster teapot with hand-painted pink and gold overglaze
decoration, and three sherds from a copper luster vessel which had
appliqued flowers.

Vellow wanes: Primarily sherds of large mixing bowls available in great
quantity from mail-order houses around the turn of the century. Also
included are five small sherds from vessels with Rockingham glaze,

popular at this time.

Tin glaze: Sometimes called Victorian majolica, an earthenware with
naturalistic molded surface decoration. First made in the 1850s in
England, it was most popular in the United States during the 1880s
(Stern 1979:104-105).
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Overglaze decornated wares: Includes both earthenware and porcelain with
gold-painted or decalcomania decoration applied over the glaze. The
forms and patterns present all represent post-1900 vessels.

Plain colonr glaze: Popular from ca. 1920 to the present, vessels with

plain green or rose-colored glaze on both sides were found in the FVRA
backdirt at Unit 12 and at the bottom of Unit 13.

Formed Glass (Total 4161 fragments)

In sites where deposits are comparatively undisturbed, glass bottles can
be useful for establishing or confirming dates of deposition. In the
case of Velasco, the presence of clearly recognizable contemporary
bottle sherds in the lowest Tlevels was an aid in confirming the amount
of disturbance on the site. Despite the large number of glass container
fragments recovered, very few whole bottles survived. Of these, certain
ones of special interest have been chosen for discussion and illus-
tration (Fig. 15). Also illustrated are datable fragments from various
tiTe periods to demonstrate the variety included in the collection (Fig.
13).

Also included in this category were a relatively small group of sherds
from pressed glass objects (Fig. 16,a). Where shapes were identifiable,
these were primarily from tumblers and stemmed goblets of mid to late

19th century manufacture. A few pieces of contemporary, dime store

vessels are also present (Fig. 13,k). One wine glass fragment (Fig. 16,d),
closely resembles early 19th century workmanship. It is nearly identical
to one recovered from excavations in Alamo Plaza (Fox, Bass, and Hester
1976:Fig. 23,b) and dated by Noel Hume (1969:190) to the 1815-1830

period.

Table and Kitchen Metafwares (Total 13 objects)

There are comparatively few identifiable objects in this category. Most
of them are illustrated in Figure 16. This probably is more indicative
of the poor state of preservation of the metal on the site, than of the
actual numbers which are present. It may also be that metal objects
such as tableware were less 1likely to be broken and/or discarded, espe-
cially in the early 19th century when they were not as common as in
later times. The author has noted this same scarcity on other 19th
century sites in Texas (see Fox and Livingston 1979:62; Hudson, Lynn,
and Scurlock 1974:74; Fox et al. 1974:Appendix 12).

Bottle caps: This category includes both crown caps and screw-on caps.
Since the crown bottle cap was invented in 1892 (Kendrick 1966:49), and
the screw-on cap some time later, these indicate post-1900-deposited
materials.
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Thin metal schrap: Included in this group are all identifiable fragments
of tin cans and other similar containers, plus any metal fragment which
appears thin enough (under 2 mm) to be part of such an object. Most of
the identifiable cans were so badly rusted as to make analysis of the
method of manufacture impossible.

Heavy-rusted metal: Most of the metal recovered from this project was
too heavily rusted to be identifiable. Objects which are identified
have been included in their proper categories, and the remainder make up
this group.

Miscellaneous~other metal schap: This is primarily unidentifiable
fragments of thin metal other than iron. Some appear to be portions of
pots and pans or other kitchenware. Included are fragments of lead,
copper or brass, and aluminum.

Animal Bone

The following faunal Tist is arranged in order of frequency of appear-
ance in the excavations.

Cow Bos sp.

Sheep/goat Ovis sp./Capra sp.
Fish unidentified

Bird unidentified

Chicken Gallus gallus

Pig Sus scnofa

Rodent Sigmodon hispidus
Crab unidentified

Snake unidentified

Opossum Didelphis massuplalis

The cow bones, predominantly saw-cut, were by far the most numerous, and
were found in every excavation unit.

Household Items

These items are commonly found in other areas of the house as well as
the kitchen, and can be more directly related to other aspects of home
1ife than food preparation and consumption.

Cernamic Figurines: Two fragments of figurines such as Victorjan mantle
piece decorations, were recovered from the second level of Units 12 and
14. The pieces were too small for further identification.
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Figure 15. Danrk Green Bottles and Whole Bottles.

a. "Black" glass, hand-formed neck and 1ip, early 19th century
(Kendrick 1966:33) (13 CU**)

b. Seal from wine bottle, "LAFITTE/MEDOC" (13-3%)

c. Wine bottle neck, sheared 1ip, laid on ring, before 1840
(ibid.:48) (6/8 CU)

d. Wine bottle base, 1/4-inch kick up, pontil mark, before 1840
(Kendrick 1966) (12 CU)

e. Wine bottle neck, sheared 1ip; laid on ring, before 1840
(ibid.) (surface, shoreline west of Coast Guard Station)

f.  LUNDIN'S CONDENSED JUNIPER-ADE/MAKES 5 GALLONS OF A HEALTHFUL
BEVERAGE/ LUNDIN'S KONDENSERADE ENBARS SYRUP/LUNDIN AND COMPANY
SOLE MANUFACTURERS CHICAGO, ILL. U.S.A. Aqua, hand-formed lip, ca.
1880 (Kendrick 1966:22) (17-1)

g. UDOLPHOWOLFE'S/AROMATIC SCHNAPPS/SCHIEDAM. Dark green, hand-formed
zip, §opu1ar during Civil War period (Switzer 1974:36, Fig. 49)
14-2

*Numbers in parentheses refer to unit and level within the unit where

artifact was found.
**Clean up (CU) indicates artifacts found during clean up of units after

tropical storm of November 14-15, 1981.



Figure 15.

Dank Green Bottles and Whole Bottles.
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Figure 16. Pressed Glass, Table and Kitchenwares, Basmn/Workshop I1tems.

a. Weathered glass, sharp edges on design elements, slight irregu-
larities in design, mid-19th century covered jar or bowl (6/8 CU**)

b. Weathered glass handle, probably for creamer or sugar bowl (14-1%)
c. MWeathered glass, fragment of unidentifed object (13-1)

d. Weathered glass, fluted wine glass, could be early 19th century
(Noel Hume 1969:Figure 64 XXV) (4-1)

e. Clear glass, fluted tumbler with impressed design in base, probably
late 19th century

f. Weathered glass, heavy fluted tumbler, irregular basal indentation,
probably mid-19th century

g. Bone handle fragment, 19th century (13-1)

h. Bone handle fragment, 19th century (13-1)

i. Knife, appears to be similar to cheap butcher knife type blade
popular on the frontier throughout the early and mid-19th century
(Russell 1967:184-185) (13-1)

j. Fork fragment, four tines, probably 19th century (6/8-4)

k. Spoon handle, iron with remnant of silver plating (ST 1-2)

1.  Kitchen utensil handle, contemporary (12 CU)

m. Fragment of a file (13-3)

n. Bridle rosette (12 CU)

o. Copper rivet for joining leather (13-1)

p. Harness buckle fragment (16-3)

*Numbers in parentheses refer to unit and level within the unit where
artifact was found.
**Clean up (CU) indicates artifacts found during clean up of units after
tropical storm of November 14-15, 1981.
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Figure 16. Pressed Glass, Table and Kitchenwares, Baw/Workshop Items.
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Fuwwmiture Hardware: An object which is either a brass drawer pull knob
or part of a lamp (Fig. 17,a) was the only piece of furniture hardware
identified from the collection.

Chimney-Lamp Glass and Light Bulb GRass: An arbitrary separation was
made in all thin glass fragments at T mm. ATl glass under this thick-
ness was considered to be 1ight bulb fragments, based on measurement of
recovered light bulb bases with glass still attached. A1l relatively
thin glass sherds over this thickness (ca. 1 mm to 2 mm) were considered
to be lamp glass chimney fragments. Of course, a number were from
identifiable portions such as top and bottom rims of chimneys.

Light Bulb Bases: A1l bases recovered were from Unit 12, and were made
in the same manner (Fig. 17,bb).

Clock Part: One fragment of the workings of a clock (Fig. 17,z) was
recovered from Unit 19.

Personal Items and Activities

Buttons: Buttons of bone, metal, shell, and glass were recovered from
the excavations (Fig. 17). There were three bone buttons, all with five
holes, one faceted jet button, and five metal ones of various types. Of
the remainder, twice as many were white glass as were shell. The major-
ity of these were 1 cm or less in diameter. Of particular interest is a
cast brass military button with slightly raised rim around the face and
a cast and drilled shank (Fig. 17,g). This may possibly date to the
Spanish occupation period, as the author has observed similarly made
buttons from post-1900 Spanish contexts in the San Antonio area. A
plain gilded metal button with maker's mark on the back and a stamped
metal button with label on the face are also of interest (Fig. 17,f,h).

Buckles: Broken pieces of three small clothing type buckles were found.
One (Fig. 17,i) is small enough to be from a watch band or some other
type of strap. The others are too fragmented to determine their full
size.

Sewing Items: Two brass thimbles (Fig. 17,j,k) were the only sewing
items recovered. One is adult size, the other probably for a child.

Beads: Eleven beads were found. One, of black glass, is illustrated in
Figure 17,n. Another is identifiable as Harris and Harris (1967:151)
No. 132, a "large, milk glass, translucent, barrel-shaped necklace bead
of compound, faceted construction." How this bead came to be on the
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site is an interesting question, since such beads were primarily im-
ported for the Indian trade. It was found in level 2 of Unit 10. The
remaining 8 beads are scarlet, plastic beads of contemporary design.

Jewelny: A gold-plated pin bearing the U.S. Coast Guard emblem
(Fig. 17,0) was the only piece of jewelry recovered.

Miron glass: A total of 22 pieces of flat glass bore traces of silver
coating on one face. They came primarily from Units 12, 13, and 14.

Comb fragments: Three teeth from black composition combs were found.
These were popular in the Tate 19th century and into the first quarter
of the 20th century, and fragments are common on sites of this period.

Pipes: Fragments of two different types of kaolin pipe stems

(Figs. 17,p,q) were recovered from shovel test 1 and Unit 11. A fragment
of a mo1ded clay pipe body (Fig. 17,r) was found in Unit 14. Pipes of
identical design have been found in 19th century deposits at Missions

San Juan Capistrano (Schuetz 1969:Plate 19Q) and Espiritu Santo at

Goliad (personal observation) and two with very similar detail were
excavated at Fort Union (1863-1891) by Rex Wilson (1966:38).

Toys and amusements: Six fragments of porcelain toy tea sets were
found.  Four were undecorated, one teapot fragment had gold luster
decoration with a green enamel overglaze stripe around the base, and one
had a blue transfer willow pattern. Additional pieces of this latter
tea set are included in the Pollan collection, excavated nearby.

Three porcelain doll fragments came from Unit 17. They were all appar-
ently from different dolls. A portion of a bisque head is illustrated
in Figure 17,v.

One black and one white glass, one yellow-glazed and two unglazed clay
marbles came from the excavations. An unusual find is a stone marble
3 cm in diameter (Fig. 17,t). A portion of the bone or ivory of a
domino (Fig. 17,w) was found in Unit 14.

Two fragments of metal cap pistols complete the toy collection. These
are both of comparatively recent vintage.

An interesting item found is a token good for one ride on the "Austin
City R . . .," probably the troliey Tine which began operation ca. 1874
(Austin Public Library, personal communication). It is made of an
orange composition material which probably dates it to the late 19th
century (Fig. 17,s).




Figure 17. Construction, Amms, Clothing, Pernsonal and Household Items.

Door knob spindle (14-1%)

Ceramic door knob fragment (12 CU**)
Percussion caps (4-1 and 12-2)

d,e. Bone buttons (12 CU and 13-3)

Plain, gilded military button, marked
"ORANGE/LONDON/EXTRA FINE," 1800-1850
(Schuetz 1969:41-42) (13-1)

Simple metal button with cast, drilled
shank ca. 1800 (12-1)

Work clothes button, post-1855 (.ib.id.:40)
(surface Quintana shoreline)

Small metal buckle (13-1)
Child's thimble (13-1)

Adult size thimble (11/15 CU)
Shell button (13-3)

White glass button (4-1)

Black glass bead, probably late 19th
century (12-2)

0.
P.
q.

ad.

bb.

U.S. Coast Guard pin (ST 1-2)
Kaolin pipe stem fragment (11-1)
Kaolin pipe stem fragment (ST 1-2)
Molded clay pipe (14-1)

Trolley line token, "AUSTIN CITY R . . . "
(17-3)

Limestone marble, made in Germany up to 1900
(Block 1979:152) (6/8 CU)

Opaque white glass marble, ca. 1900 (.ibid.:
156) (13-1)

Bisque doll's head (17-3)

Bone or ivory domino face (14-3)
Lead fishing weights (1-1)
Clock part (19-2)

Brass drawer pull or part of a
Tamp (17-2)

Light bulb (12-2)

*Numbers in parentheses refer to unit and level within the unit where artifact was found.

**Clean up (CU) indicates artifacts found during clean up of units after tropical storm of

November 14-15, 1981.

89




69

Figure 17. Conmstruction, Aums, CRlothing, Personal and Household Iitems.
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Waiting Maternial: Fragments of slate and slate pencils were found in
nearly every section of the town site, representing a common method of
writing during the middle to late 19th century. A pencil lead fragment
and an eraser holder from a wooden pencil from more recent times were
also present.

Fishing Equipment: As might be expected in such a setting, Tead sinkers
(Fig. 17,x,y) and a fish hook were also found in the site.

Barn/Workshop

Tooks: A whole bit brace and a portion of a flat file (Fig. 16,m) were
the only positively identifiable tools recovered from the excavations.
There are also fragments which are probably parts of other tools and are
tentatively identified as such.

Honse Equipment: Included in this category are a partial horseshoe, a
bridTe rosette, a rivet for fastening leather, two D-rings which may
have come from a saddle, and a partial harness buckle (Fig. 16,p).
Other badly rusted fragments may also be bridle and saddle parts.

Handware: Fragments of wagon hardware and a number of heavy bolts,
gears, a rubber wheel, a fragment of a machinery belt, a handful of
heavy grommets, and a spark plug are included in this category.

Battenies: Numerous fragments of carbon battery cores which range from
8 mm to 27 mm in diameter were found in Test Pit No. 1, and Units 12 and
13.

Arms

Lead balls of the following dimensions were found:

Unit 15-1 6 mm diameter (3 grams)

Unit 16-4 8 mm diameter (4.5 grams)
Unit 13-1 8 mm diameter (4.8 grams)
Unit 14-2 10 mm diameter (10.5 grams)

A fragment of lead sprue was found in Unit 16, level 3. Two percussion
caps (Fig. 17,c) and two iron cannon balls probably represent the Civil
War defenses in the area. Similar objects evidently were excavated in
this area by the Fort Velasco Restoration Association in 1971.
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Building Materials

Hardware: Among the identifiable fragments of building hardware were
pieces of a late 19th century door Tock and a ceramic knob from Units 12
and 14 (Fig. 17,a,b).

Window GLass: A total of 1814 window glass fragments were recovered
from all areas of the site. They measure from 1 mm to 2 mm in thick-
ness.

Nails, Spikes, Etc.: Nails recovered from the excavations were in such
bad condition that it was impossible to determine, in most cases, what
their original shape or size had been. Two large spikes and a modern
toggle bolt were also recovered. In all, 1605 nails and spikes were
recovered.

Electrnic Fixtures: Fragments of porcelain electric fixtures and a
porcelain insulator were found in shovel test 1, and Units 1 and 12.
Some of the wire fragments present may also be related to electric
fixtures.

Brick and Cenamic Tile: By far the majority of the brick recovered from
the test excavations was a soft, sandy, locally made type referred to in
the area as "plantation brick" (H. B. Fearn, personal communication).

It was made by hand in the early to mid-19th century in wooden molds and
fired in kilns built of the same brick (see Fox, Day, and Highley 1980:
Appendix I, 181-188). Individual bricks varied quite a bit in size and
color, depending on the whim of the Tocal brickmaker and the placement
of an individual brick within the kiln. However, they average 3-3/8 to
3-5/8 inches wide and 2 inches thick, and most are gray to red-orange in
color, some bearing traces of a salt glaze. No whole bricks were
recovered from which to reconstruct the average length. Bricks found on
the surface at the Schuster house were probably made after 1900. One is
a yellow fire brick with the impressed mark, GINGER. The other type is
a red-brown, high-fired type bearing the impressed mark, ANDY CORDELL
REDS. Both of these types were used in constructing a fireplace and
chimney in the present house, at some time after the house itself was
built, which would date them sometime in the early 20th century.

Contemponarny Composition Tile and Cement Mortar: Fragments of both of
these materials were recovered from nearly every unit and.from various
depths, again indicating the disturbed state of the deposits.
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SUMMARY STATEMENT

The most obvious characteristic of the sites of Velasco and Quintana are
their nearly complete lack of any structural traces predating about
1900. We cannot be sure how close the units were placed relative to the
various buildings of Velasco as of ca. 1850, but many should have been
fairly close to some structures. The stratigraphy, such as it is,
indicates virtually no occupation surface earlier than 1880-1900. What
happened to the town and the fort?

We can only assume that the rather startling number of severe hurricanes
which swept this coast, frequently sending the ocean across the site at
depths of 10-15 feet, scoured most of the traces of the town from the
soil. Added to this is the severe damage done to Velasco by street
building, drainage, and other large surface modifications, and the
destruction of most of the warehouse district of Quintana by changes to
the river channel and construction of docking facilities. Based on the
evidence of the history of the sites, the maps, and the archaeology, we
are left to conclude that there are virtually no surviving structural
remains of old Velasco and very little of old Quintana.

The one place where an early house site seems to have survived in some
form is in an area protected by a massive clump of salt cedars (Units 3,
7, 9, 11, and 15; Fig. 8). Although the artifact collection from this
structural trace is very small, it still suggests a date for the struc-
ture of ca. 1830-1840. The structure was probably burned. Its location
within Monument Square, the general site of the Mexican Fort Velasco and
associated structures, where no later structures are known to have
existed, leads us to believe that this may have been the site of one of
the buildings burned by Ugartechea in June 1832 as preparation for the
Battle of Velasco. The Anglo nature of the few artifacts argues for the
possibility that this was a building associated with Asa Mitchell's home
or enterprises. The very high ground water level (most of the area was
standing in 2-3 inches of water during the excavation) prevented any
further exploration of this structure, so that the extent of the remains
or the existence of other traces of structure in the area cannot be
determined. If these structural remains are what they seem--that is, a
portion of a house burned during the battle of 1832--then it is possible
that subsurface traces of the foundations of other buildings and Fort
Velasco itself may also survive.

The nearly complete disappearance of archaeological traces is a rela-
tively unusual event. Sites are rarely totally obliterated by any
combination of the actions of man and nature. However, the character-
istics of the artifact distribution, where a mixture of 1850s through
1930s artifacts are randomly deposited almost invariably in close
relationship to substantial masonry remains such as chimney bases and
brick foundations, in direct violation of the standard Anglo pattern of
trash dumps at doors and windows (see Stanley South 1977:48 for a dis-
cussion of this) can best be explained by hurricane destruction of the
site, unsatisfying though this is. The more extensive survival of mid-
19th century structural traces on the Quintana side of the river as
found by Warren Lynn is probably attributable to the dense brown clay
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which forms the subsoil here. Such a subsoil would seem to be much less
susceptible to the effects of storm tides and scouring. The almost pure
sand subsoil of old Velasco offered no such resistance to these tides.
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RECOMMENDATIONS

In order to be considered eligible for nomination to the National
Register of Historic Places, a historic site must be over 50 years old,
have integrity of location, design, setting, material, workmanship,
feeling and association. It must also be associated with significant
historic events or individuals, embody distinctive architectural charac-
teristics, or be likely to yield important historic information. Using
these criteria, on the basis of historic research alone, it would seem
that the entire area at the mouth of the Brazos River should qualify for
nomination. However, it now appears that this may not be an accurate
assessment.

On the basis of our investigations, we believe that all significant
historical structures of the town of Quintana have been destroyed by
channel widening and erosion, and that, therefore, the site should not
be considered eligible for nomination. We feel that traces of the
structures of the town of Velasco and all related cultural deposits
which would be necessary for their identification and interpretation
have been virtually eradicated by storm action, making it also ineli-
gible. The gun emplacements near the Quintana shoreline are clearly
less than 50 years old, and therefore automatically ineligible.

Judging from the survival of early 19th century subsurface remains in
the Monument Square area, we suggest that it is entirely possible that
the patterns of post molds and fortification ditches of Fort Velasco as
constructed by Colonel Ugartechea may still remain in the subsoil,
despite the fact that the original, artifact bearing surface has been
destroyed.

In order to verify the existence of the traces of Fort Velasco, it would
be necessary to remove 4 inches of sandy overburden over a relatively
large area (ca. 350 x 400 ft). If done carefully during a relatively
dry season of the year, we believe mechanical means could be used
without injuring the structural remains. When the overburden has been
removed, hand-shaving with flat shovels should fairly quickly reveal any
remaining structural evidence. This evidence should consist of two
concentric circles of post stains, the outer one with a diameter of ca.
60 ft and the inner one with a diameter of ca. 20 ft. There may
possibly also be a third circle 6 ft inside the outer one. Immediately
outside the outer circle of post stains there may be found a defensive
ditch at least 6 ft wide and perhaps 3 ft deep (see Ugartechea 1832d: 3,
4; Looscan 1897:283; Smith 1911:38, 41). Other buildings present in
this area (Fig. 4) would have left traces similar to those found in
Units 3, 7, 9, 11, and 15 (Fig. 8). If the remains of the fort are
found to survive, at this point the possibility of its nomination to the
National Register of Historic Places should be further examined.
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